Research Results Vol. 9

Markus Patenge

The theological reception of spread factors and preventive measures of the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Africa

A literature study

German Bishops' Conference Research Group on International Church Affairs (ed.)

Markus Patenge The theological reception of spread factors and preventive measures of the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Africa

A literature study

Bonn, 2017

ISBN: 978-3-940137-78-4

Cover illustration: © poosan – Fotolia.com

Publisher: German Bishops' Conference Research Group on International Church Affairs

Obtainable from: Sekretariat der Deutschen Bischofskonferenz Bereich Weltkirche und Migration Kaiserstraße 161 53113 Bonn Tel. 0228/103-288, Fax 0228/103-335 E-Mail: wissenschaftliche-arbeitsgruppe@dbk.de E-Mail: dbk@azn.de Brief notes on the publisher and the author of the study

The publisher

The German Bishops' Conference Research Group on International Church Affairs is appointed by the Commission for International Church Affairs of the German Bishops' Conference. The Research Group consists of professors from various disciplines. The task of the Group is to investigate issues related to the international responsibilities of the Church in Germany.

The author of the study

This study was drawn up by the Institute for Global Church and Mission (IWM). The IWM is a research institute at the Sankt Georgen Graduate School of Philosophy and Theology, and is devoted to research and teachings concerning the theological reflection on the mission of the Church in the horizon of international church issues. The study project was led by the acting Director of the IWM **Father Dr. Markus Luber SJ**. This literature study was implemented and drawn up by **Dr. Markus Patenge**.

Table of contents

Ba	ckground		7
1.	An introduction to the topic		
2.	Influencing factors for HIV/AIDS in Africa		
	2.1. Vulnerability factors		13
	2.1.1.	Perspectives of African cultural convictions with regard to HIV/AIDS	14
	2.1.2.	Relationship structures	17
	2.1.3.	Sexual practices	. 20
	2.1.4.	Gender roles	23
	2.1.5.	Stigmatisation and discrimination	27
	2.1.6.	Poverty	31
	2.1.7.	Interim conclusion	34
	2.2. Preventive measures		·35
	2.2.1.	Changing behaviour	35
	2.2.2.	The ABC method	36
	2.2.3.	Antiretroviral therapy (ARV/ART)	39
	2.2.4.	Cultural development	41
	2.2.5.	Education	• 44
3.	African-theological reflections on the		
	HIV/AIDS epidemic46		
	3.1. The foundation of a theology of HIV/AIDS:		
	Inculturation		
	3.2. Components of an African theology of HIV/AIDS 49		
	3.2.1.	Theological ethics	· 49

3.2.2. Ecclesiology		
3.2.3. Sacramental theology		
3.2.4. The Church's pastoral practice	53	
3.3. Potential guiding theological perspectives	54	
3.4. Interim conclusion		
Conclusion		
Literature		
	3.2.4. The Church's pastoral practice3.3. Potential guiding theological perspectives	

Background

At the beginning of 2016, the German Bishops' Conference Research Group on International Church Affairs commissioned the Institute for Global Church and Mission (IWM) to study the research literature on the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Africa from a theological and contextsensitive perspective.

This literature study is regarded as a continuation and intensification of the study entitled "Lessons learned from the responses by the Catholic Church to HIV and AIDS in Africa"¹. In this study, which was presented in 2015, the authors recognised the need to aim for further reflections with regard to HIV/AIDS-sensitive theology in the African context.² The literature study presented here takes a first step towards doing justice to this important desideratum in research by systematically discussing the status quo of the current theological reflection of the spread factors and preventive measures of HIV/AIDS in Africa.

The content orientation of this literature study is determined by the following guiding questions:

- 1. What socio-economic, cultural, religious, etc., factors are identified influencing the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Africa, and what reflections affect them in the theological literature?
- 2. What preventive measures already exist, and how are they evaluated from a cultural and theological perspective?
- 3. What elements of an HIV/AIDS-sensitive African theology have already been developed and can be found in the literature studied?

¹ *Fleischer et al.*, Lessons learned from the responses by the Catholic Church to HIV and AIDS in Africa. (Only abridged titles will be quoted in the footnotes. The complete literature list is at the end of the study.)

² cf. ibd. 43.

In order to be able to answer these questions within a suitable timeframe, it was necessary to limit the mass of literature that is available on HIV and AIDS. The following three criteria were established for this:

- 1. In the main, literature was considered that had been published over the previous ten years.
- 2. The literature was to explicitly address the topic of HIV/AIDS in the African context ideally from an African perspective.
- 3. The reflection background of the authors was to be of a largely theological nature.

1. An introduction to the topic

Sub-Saharan Africa is the region of the Earth which is worst affected by the HIV/AIDS epidemic. According to the latest UNAIDS statistics³, there were 36.9 million PLWH (People Living With HIV/AIDS) worldwide in 2014, 25.8 million of whom – that is roughly 70 % – were living in sub-Saharan Africa. Even if one may cautiously speak of hopeful developments – the number of new infections fell by roughly 340,000 in this region between 2006 and 2014, and the number of HIV/AIDS-related deaths dropped by about 710,000 – HIV/AIDS remains one of the greatest existential threats facing people in Africa, and poses a massive challenge to civil society and the Churches.

From a medical point of view, AIDS is the consequence of becoming infected with HIV. The virus is transmitted through coming into contact with specific bodily fluids (such as blood or sperm) of an infected person, albeit the virus must penetrate the recipient's own bloodstream (for instance via an open wound), so that the primary modes of transmission are related to sexual intercourse, but it can also be transmitted from mother to child during pregnancy or in breastfeeding. Infections can also be caused by contaminated medical instruments, as well as through blood, organ and semen donations.⁴ According to the state-of-the-art of the research, there is no medical cure for AIDS. Medicines are however now available which considerably extend life expectancy.⁵

This purely medical view cannot however explain why sub-Saharan Africa is particularly affected by the epidemic to the extent described. And the literature is thus dominated by the following broad consensus: "The HI virus causes AIDS. But it does not act alone."⁶ Both when it comes to the question of the spread of HIV/AIDS and in the discussion of adequate

³ The figures below were obtained from UNAIDS, AIDSinfo, http://aidsinfo.unaids.org.

⁴ cf. *Fleischer/Ochel*, Schlaglichter einer modernen Seuche, 20.

⁵ cf. ibd. 23–24.

⁶ Ackermann, "Deep in the Flesh", 111.

prevention, it becomes clear that there is a multiplicity of factors which also need to be considered: Voluntary or coerced high-risk behaviour is frequently the result of specific political, economic, social and cultural structures and circumstances.⁷ And CZERNY for instance reminds us that the epidemic cannot be successfully overcome if one only regards the biomedical facts:

Pastoral care, moral formation for responsibility and prevention, spirituality, and indigenous remedies may be less spectacularly successful in reenforcing someone's depleted immune system, but when you admit that basic nutrition, food security, clean water, primary health care, affordable universal education, employment, security are undeniably Africa's top needs, and if you really want to overcome AIDS, it would be reckless to ignore them [...].⁸

The situation is exacerbated by the fact that an anti-Western attitude is prevalent in the debate on HIV/AIDS in parts of African society. AIDS is therefore partly regarded as a non-African disease⁹, or as a Western plot¹⁰. The inability so far to find a cure by classical medical standards may further scepticism vis-à-vis "Western" medicine, leading to denial of the effectiveness of preventive measures such as condom use.¹¹ Some groups also consider the relevant influence of cultural and social norms and ideas on the spread of HIV and AIDS, which was just touched on, as a Western attack on African culture and values.¹²

This brief overview makes it clear that the fight against HIV/AIDS in Africa cannot be won by medical means alone. Rather, the non-medical factors influencing the spread of this disease also need to be identified and transformed. The concern that was expressed in many cases regarding African culture¹³ cannot be countered with "colonialism of culture

⁷ cf. *Dilger*, Introduction, 1.

⁸ *Czerny*, ARVs When Possible, 100.

⁹ cf. *Ayanga*, Religio-Cultural Challenges, 34.

¹⁰ cf. *Behrend*, The Rise of Occult Powers, 36.

¹¹ cf. ibd. 37.

¹² cf. *Green/Ruark*, AIDS, behavior, and culture, 73.

¹³ This term "African culture" naturally gives rise to the question of whether one can speak of *one* African culture in the singular at all, or whether one should not rather

and values", as such colonialism in particular is not culture sensitive, and the values, practices and norms which it introduces are generally rejected as being foreign. Instead, there is a need to initiate an intercultural dialogue on an equal footing which both acknowledges African culture, its values and practices and – where necessary – criticises them and points to alternatives. For this reason, this literature study lends considerable scope to these factors, their anchoring in African culture and their reflection by African theologians.

If we are talking about the various factors influencing the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Africa, then there is naturally also a need to discuss the commitment of the Catholic Church. It is revealed here that perceptions of the Church's activities in this area are ambivalent. It can be observed on the one hand that the Church, along with other religious organisations, is among the main stakeholders in the organisation of prevention campaigns, medical treatment and social guidance.¹⁴ Having said that, we should not keep secret the fact here that the infection rate is highest in "Christian" countries¹⁵. The literature does not however provide a causal explanation of this phenomenon. On the other hand, various authors complain that the Church's caring pastoral practice is countered by its doctrine: "[C]hurches have been blamed for sabotaging these [...] efforts by their judgmental attitudes, endorsement of patriarchy, and cul-

speak of African cultures in the plural. According to ODOZOR, there are differences in Africa's cultures, but these are founded in shared fundamental convictions justifying to a certain degree also speaking of an African culture. cf. *Odozor*, Morality truly Christian, truly African, 76. Even if this position can certainly be contradicted by lending greater weight to the differences between the cultures in Africa, particularly in No. 2.1.1 – despite all the care that should be given to avoid overgeneralisation – several perspectives of shared cultural convictions in Africa are presented on this basis. There is no denying that this study hence only contains certain ideals of cultural interpretation patterns which remain in the abstract vis-à-vis the extant plurality of living cultures. It should also be noted that the fundamental cultural convictions which have been presented are likely to reflect a more sub-Saharan context.

- ¹⁴ cf. *Burchardt*, Subjects of Counselling, 333.
- ¹⁵ cf. *Chummar*, HIV/AIDS in Africa, 158.

tures of denial."¹⁶ The question therefore also arises of the degree to which HIV/AIDS has come to be reflected in the Church's doctrine with the aim in mind of arming its staff on all levels in the fight against this disease. The answer to this question is controversial: Whilst some are already speaking of the establishment of an HIV/AIDS-sensitive theology within the African Church¹⁷, others are claiming that this has not taken place¹⁸. This literature study hence also takes up this group of topics as component of a theological reflection, and presents the various elements of such a theology. The focus here is placed on the approach of adopting a culture-sensitive African theology. Such an inculturated theology is not merely a pastoral necessity in the face of the dramatic challenges posed by HIV/AIDS and their contextual influencing factors in Africa, but at the same time constitutes a search for "self-identity and relevance" for the Church(es) in Africa.¹⁹

¹⁶ *Paterson*, Who Sinned?, 163.

¹⁷ cf. *Okambawa*, Africa theology of HIV/AIDS, 335; *Orobator*, Catholic Responses to HIV/AIDS in Africa, 182.

¹⁸ cf. *Chummar*, HIV/AIDS in Africa, 158; *Haddad*, Poverty, Gendered Cultural Sexual Practices and HIV, 16.

¹⁹ *Odozor*, Morality truly Christian, truly African, 12.

2. Influencing factors for HIV/AIDS in Africa

The question regarding the factors influencing the HIV/AIDS epidemic goes hand in hand with the question as to how an infection actually occurs. At formal level, two stages can be made out here: exposure to the virus and infection with the HI virus.²⁰

Since roughly 80 % of all new infections in Africa are caused by heterosexual intercourse²¹, there is a need to ask in the first perspective under what conditions sexual intercourse leads to greater exposure to the virus. If one acknowledges that personal behaviour (e.g. sexual behaviour) is also always influenced by cultural and socio-economic factors, a preventive approach which is solely orientated towards the high-risk behaviour of individuals is simplistic. Individual high-risk behaviour is hence rooted within the prevention debate in terms of its context, so that the vulnerability approach has developed.²² This approach focuses on the question of what societal, cultural, economic, etc., factors make specific groups of individuals particularly vulnerable with regard to high-risk sexual practices. The specific vulnerability conditions in the African context hence form the focus of the first section of this chapter, in which the specific socio-economic and cultural influencing factors are presented.

2.1. Vulnerability factors

Although African culture is very much influenced by "Western modernism", it is however shown that the thinking patterns of traditional culture in all groups of the population have by no means become insignificant.²³ Through traditional norms and values, these determine not only large numbers of sexual norms and practices²⁴, but may also increase vulnera-

²⁰ This distinction is quoted from Benoît Ferry. cf. *Denis*, Sexualität und HIV/AIDS in Südafrika, 28.

²¹ cf. *Fleischer/Ochel*, Schlaglichter einer modernen Seuche, 17.

²² cf. ibd. 26.

²³ cf. *Bujo*, Im Zentrum steht die Gemeinschaft, 92.

²⁴ cf. *Chiti*, Culture, HIV, and the Church, 147.

bility to HIV and AIDS²⁵. The cultural embedding of moral ideas necessitates first of all revealing some of the fundamental perspectives of African culture with regard to HIV/AIDS. It should be taken into account here that culture is an umbrella term for a variety of circumstances:

Culture describes a people's way of life, both material and spiritual. It consists of technology as well as beliefs, norms and values. It involves prescriptions as well as prohibitions about what people should eat, how to dress, how to deal with disasters and what medicines to use for their sicknesses.²⁶

And although it would be a misunderstanding to perceive culture as being static, as it is always also subject to large numbers of adjustments and changes²⁷, it is possible to identify several stable cultural patterns in today's African context, and these are presented below.

2.1.1. Perspectives of African cultural convictions with regard to HIV/AIDS

African culture – in the sense of a shared system of values and convictions – focuses on a holistic view of the world the genesis of which lies in many traditional African religions. The whole world is for instance subdivided into three areas – "the world of spirits, of human beings and of nature"²⁸ –, but these areas are not isolated from one another, but form the one world, jointly. The connection between these three areas of the world is to be understood as a hierarchical one:

Africans believe in a hierarchy of beings, from the ultimate being, God, to lesser ones, divinities, spirits, the living dead, human beings, animals, plants, and inanimate beings.²⁹

This hierarchy corresponds to a desired order of the entire world which is also to be reflected in human social order: "This hierarchy is also evident in human society, where there are chiefs, clan heads, family heads,

²⁵ cf. *Kamanzi*, Solidarity, a New Categorical Imperative, 22.

²⁶ Ayanga, Religio-Cultural Challenges, 36.

²⁷ cf. ibd. 37; or also: *Stewart*, Contextualization of HIV prevention initiatives, 386.

²⁸ *Nyamiti*, An African Theology of Holistic Healing, 20.

²⁹ *Odozor*, Morality truly Christian, truly African, 87.

older siblings, and so on."³⁰ This hierarchical view comes to bear not only in social relationships, but also in the gender roles which a culture provides, and which make woman subordinate to man.³¹ This order also evokes a set of norms which can cause problems when it comes to HIV and AIDS, such as:

it is possible to discuss practically any topic with those who have a lower standing, but this is not possible the other way around. Telling one's own mother that she is very probably infected because one's father died of AIDS is regarded as being in breach of appropriate behaviour.³²

This world view places relationships at the focus of African thinking. A successful human existence is for instance typified by the individual living in good relationships with the living, their ancestors and those who are yet unborn.³³ A strong expression is lent to this relational thinking amongst other things in the African understanding of disease. On the one hand, disease is never interpreted as an individual incident pure and simple, but impacts the entire community in which the sick person lives.³⁴ Sick persons are therefore as a rule not left alone, even if they are suffering from an infectious disease such as HIV/AIDS.³⁵ On the other hand, disease is understood as the consequence of disturbed relationships and of behaviour which is in breach of norms:

Culpable behaviour towards God, people or Nature can cause a disease. It is however not always the sick person who has accrued the guilt, and in fact it may for instance also be the neighbours who have sinned against the patient. A disease is always related to guilt, for which any member of the community can be responsible.³⁶

- ³³ cf. *Bate*, HIV Prevention and the Theology of Sin, 188.
- ³⁴ cf. *Bujo*, Community Ethics, 69.

³⁰ Ibd. 100.

³¹ cf. James, Factors that Render the Girl-Child Vulnerable, 4.

³² Fiedler, HIV/AIDS als theologische Herausforderung, 69 (original German; nonofficial translation).

³⁵ cf. ibd. 74.

³⁶ *Bujo*, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 207 (original German; non-official translation).

In African the thinking, therefore, falling foul of AIDS may be connected with the HIV infection, but just as easily with the sick person overstepping specific norms³⁷.

The connection between this thinking in relationships and networking between the various parts of the world leads to the idea that witchcraft³⁸ can be responsible for the outbreak of a disease. Belief in witchcraft is so prevalent that it is often said that people as a rule do not simply die, but that they are killed³⁹. The "guilt" for one's own disease therefore does not necessarily have to be related to one's own misconduct, but can also be caused by others. One of the most important tasks of traditional healers is therefore to find out who is responsible for a disease.⁴⁰ A strong belief in witchcraft can lead to preventive measures against HIV/AIDS not being accepted since the cause of the disease is not regarded as lying solely in the transmission of a virus, but traced back to magical influences.⁴¹ The growing knowledge of medical connections does weaken the idea of a direct causality between witchcraft and disease, but the idea of there being a supernatural cause for the disease nonetheless remains intact:

Although many people know that AIDS is not caused directly by witchcraft, a witch can influence a man or a woman, for example, to drink too much beer so that he or she leaves all caution aside and has sex with a HIV-positive person and so may contract the virus.⁴²

³⁷ cf. *Steuer*, Krankheit und Ehre, 27.

³⁸ In the European context, the term witchcraft is generally associated with sorcery, partnership with demons, licentiousness and the like; cf. *Laubscher*, Hexen, 79. This contextual image of witchcraft makes it difficult to transfer this term to the African phenomenon. The substance and vitality of belief in witchcraft in Africa is fed above all from the described prevalent relational cosmology, and is not identical with European concepts of witchcraft. It should therefore be noted that the German term *"Hexerei"* (sorcery), which is used as a translation for *"*witchcraft*"* is quite problematic.

³⁹ cf. *Khamalwa*, Religion, Traditional Healers, and the AIDS Pandemic, 89.

⁴⁰ cf. *Essien*, Notions of Healing and Transcendence, 243.

⁴¹ cf. *Bujo*, Community Ethics, 72.

⁴² *Behrend*, The Rise of Occult Powers, 35.

This outline of prevalent African thinking patterns shows that these by themselves have the potential to provoke high-risk behaviour. The Church is called on to take this fundamental relationship between cultural convictions and high-risk behaviour seriously if She wishes to make an effective contribution to HIV/AIDS prevention.⁴³ Further, this presentation is to provide the cultural background for the following more specific vulnerability factors.

2.1.2. Relationship structures

The literature repeatedly mentions four problematic relationship structures which influence vulnerability to HIV/AIDS: 1. polygamous relationships, 2. the practice of the "bride price", 3. "levirate marriage" and 4. the situation of discordant couples.

1. The risks involved in polygamous relationships are evident: "The infection of the husband or one of the wives brings ill health to all partners."⁴⁴ Polygamy remains widespread in Africa – including among African Christians.⁴⁵ Because monogamy is frequently associated with the man being poor.⁴⁶ Institutionalised polygamy is therefore not practiced among Christians, but long-term relationships outside of marriages which appear to be monogamous are the rule.⁴⁷ The intercultural theological debate on polygamy must however not only look at the link between this topic and poverty and riches, but must also take different concepts of monogamy and polygamy into account. Monogamy is also highly valued in the African context, "and it is only the monogamous marriage which also provides a footing for all other po-

⁴³ cf. *Correll*, HIV/AIDS, 30.

⁴⁴ Bujo, Community Ethics, 73.

⁴⁵ There are no reliable figures on this, since the spread of polygamy differs greatly from one region to another. FARLEY speaks in this context of a proportion of 20-40 % polygamous marriages in Africa. cf. *Farley*, Verdammter Sex, 105.

⁴⁶ cf. *Obbo*, Sponsored sexuality, AIDS and tough choices, 33.

⁴⁷ cf. ibd.

lygamous ties."⁴⁸ An inflexible dichotomy of monogamy and polygamy which is anchored in traditional theology cannot be easily transmitted to African ideas.

2. The practice of the bride price is also entrenched within the topics related to monogamy and polygamy.⁴⁹ In the European cultural area, the bride price – if only by virtue of its name – is understood as a sale price for the bride, and sometimes as a compensatory payment for the bride's family. The original African meaning however has nothing to do with this association: "The bride price is not a purchase price, but a token and pledge of friendship and harmony between the two families."⁵⁰

In contradistinction to this traditional view of the bride price, there are now commercialisation developments, so that it is now possible to actually speak of a price being paid for the woman.⁵¹ The consequence of this is that the man makes the woman into an object "with which he does what he wants"⁵². This has major repercussions, particularly with regard to the woman's right to sexual co-determination.

3. Levirate marriage refers to the custom "that should the husband die, his wife is married to one of his brothers or relatives."⁵³ In

- ⁵² *Bujo*, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 163 (original German; non-official translation).
- ⁵³ Ibd. 124 (original German; non-official translation).

⁴⁸ Bujo, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 136 (original German; non-official translation).

⁴⁹ It was not possible to ascertain precise figures on the spread of this practice. It can however be presumed that the bride price is common and accepted. cf. *Knodel*, Für alle Fälle einen Hahn im Kofferraum, 94-95.

⁵⁰ *Bujo*, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 158 (original German; non-official translation).

⁵¹ The change in this practice has for instance shown that cultural practices are not inflexible, but may be subject to many transformation processes – both positive and negative. These dynamics must not be disregarded with context-sensitive methods.

cultural terms, this custom must be placed within the expanded traditional African understanding of marriage, in which marriage is less an institution between two individuals, and more the bringing together of two (large) families. Levirate marriage is therefore also not regarded as constituting a new marriage, but as the continuation of the old one.⁵⁴ As well as ensuring that the widow and the children from the first marriage have a livelihood, levirate marriage naturally also has a sexual component, as this marriage is also intended to produce children, if possible.⁵⁵ This gives rise to a considerable risk of HIV infection for the new spouses if the widow or the new husband is already infected with HIV. These problems become worse if the levirate marriage is integrated within a polygamous marriage structure.

DENIS sums up these traditional relationship patterns – polygamy, bride price and levirate marriage – with regard to HIV and AIDS as follows:

The old family structures which made women subordinate to men whilst at the same time giving them a certain degree of security were retained, but lost their protective function. [...] The patriarchal system hence became profoundly dysfunctional.⁵⁶

- 4. The fundamental problem of many relationships whatever form they may take – is "discordance", or the discordant couple situation. Discordance means in this context that one partner within the relationship is HIV-positive whilst the other is not. According to KELLY, discordant relationships can be reflected from four points of view:⁵⁷
 - In order to reduce the risk of an HIV infection, discordance in a relationship first of all requires openness when it comes

⁵⁴ cf. ebd. 125.

⁵⁵ cf. ibd. 127.

⁵⁶ Denis, Sexualität und HIV/AIDS in Südafrika, 31–32 (original German; non-official translation).

⁵⁷ cf. *Kelly*, Some AIDS Relevant Teachings of Moral Theology, 121–123.

to talking about one's own HIV status and assuring support to one another in the difficult situation.

• In a second step, there is a need to weigh up between living sexuality and protecting the life of the other. KELLY expresses the dilemma as follows:

Their lovemaking is the channel of God's love for each of them. [...] But their lovemaking could also be the channel for the transmission of the human immunodeficiency virus [...].⁵⁸

This situation calls for a re-evaluation of preventive measures; the latter may not be seen solely from the perspective of contraception, but also from the perspective of the protection of life.⁵⁹

- Since discordant couples frequently would also like to have children, a further weighing up process needs to take place between the protection of life and the desire to reproduce. KELLY recalls that many Bishops' Conferences in this context stress the significance of the personal conscience-based decision, which will point couples in the right direction in their specific situation.⁶⁰
- There is however a need to consider here that the issue of reproduction is not solely a matter of the couple's health, but also of that of the unborn child. The child could be born HIV positive.⁶¹

2.1.3. Sexual practices

The risk of an HIV infection is exacerbated by various sexual practices, albeit not all sexual intercourse is contagious to the same degree. A particular risk of contagion exists if there are wounds by means of which blood or sperm can penetrate the bloodstream, or in case of sexual prac-

⁵⁸ Ibd. 122.

⁵⁹ cf. ibd.

⁶⁰ cf. ibd. 123.

⁶¹ cf. ibd.

tices which cause such injuries⁶². Several practices which are exposed to such heightened risks are presented and reflected upon here.

The use or non-use of condoms exerts a considerable influence on the risk of infection during sexual intercourse. It is shown that condoms are primarily regarded as a contraceptive and less as protecting against the transmission of the virus. Accordingly, the condom is frequently left out if the contraceptive function is not relevant to a sexual practice, such as in anal sex.⁶³ It must also be borne in mind when it comes to the use of condoms that men frequently refuse to use them. In a highly patriarchal society - see No. 2.1.4 - women are frequently unable to insist on men/husbands using a condom, even if they know that they engage in high-risk sexual intercourse elsewhere.⁶⁴ This dominant role played by men relates not only to the power to decide on condom use, but also to other high-risk practices which are known in Africa such as "dry sex". In "dry sex" "the vagina is dried out by using certain substances [...] in order to increase the man's pleasure."⁶⁵ This practice entails increased inflammation of the vaginal mucous membranes, and an increased risk of injury, which favour infection. Just as "dry sex", anal sex also entails a greater risk of injury to the mucous membranes. As has already been stated, anal sex is practiced to avoid pregnancies, but also to preserve women's vaginal virginity. Anal sex is hence frequently widespread where the tradition of a pre-marital virginity test is practiced.⁶⁶ What is more, anal sex is also commonly practiced where women are circumcised. Anal sex is used as a replacement during the period when vaginal sex is not possible because of the circumcision.⁶⁷

With regard to vulnerability to HIV/AIDS, the conviction must be broached that sexual intercourse with a female virgin can cure an HIV

⁶² cf. *Denis*, Sexualität und HIV/AIDS in Südafrika, 33.

⁶³ cf. *Abdool Karim*, Heterosexual transmission of HIV, 299.

⁶⁴ cf. *Haddad*, Poverty, Gendered Cultural Sexual Practices and HIV, 10.

⁶⁵ *Denis*, Sexualität und HIV/AIDS in Südafrika, 33 (original German; non-official translation).

⁶⁶ cf. *Haddad*, Poverty, Gendered Cultural Sexual Practices and HIV, 15.

⁶⁷ cf.. *Abdool Karim*, Heterosexual transmission of HIV, 299.

infection. This myth plays a major role in infecting girls and young women.⁶⁸ Apart from the fatal consequences of this mistaken conviction of "virgin cleansing", it frequently entails raping virgins⁶⁹, including children⁷⁰. Sexual violence is highly significant to the vulnerability of women with regard to an HIV infection, since forced sexual intercourse entails injuring the female genital organs, and hence maximises the risk of an infection.⁷¹

In conclusion of this section, there is a further need to discuss prostitution. Changing sexual partners places sex workers at heightened risk of infection, but they are also the main carriers of the HI virus⁷². It should be borne in mind here that, in the African context, prostitution is not only widespread in the classical understanding (sex for money), but that it takes on a wide range of forms. Sexual services are also offered amongst other things for "transport, school uniforms and fees, food, accommodation"73. In whatever form prostitution occurs, it is frequently motivated by poverty. The prices that are paid therefore also determine the practices that are offered, which leads to additional high-risk behaviour. Higher prices are paid for particularly high-risk practices, such as sex without a condom, anal sex or "dry sex", and this makes these forms of sex particularly interesting for the prostitutes in economic terms.⁷⁴ Prostitutes who insist on safe practices must expect to lose income, or are forced to serve more customers. The economic lucrativeness of these high-risk practices means that prostitutes have a higher risk of infection. Their economic constraints however also cause sex workers to be common carriers of the HI virus. Since they rely on income from prostitution, they do not cease working, even when they know that they them-

⁶⁸ cf. *Mathews*, Reducing sexual risk behaviours, 163.

⁶⁹ cf. *Haddad*, Poverty, Gendered Cultural Sexual Practices and HIV, 15.

⁷⁰ cf. *Mathews*, Reducing sexual risk behaviours, 163.

⁷¹ Denis, Sexualität und HIV/AIDS in Südafrika, 34.

⁷² cf. *Ramjee*, Female sex workers, 339.

⁷³ Ibd. 330.

⁷⁴ cf. *Mulligan*, Confronting the challenge, 31.

selves have an HIV infection.⁷⁵ In conjunction with the high-risk sexual practices described, customers are put at a high risk of infection.

The Church's response to these practices as a rule consists of abstinence. This certainly brings Her into agreement with some ideas within traditional African culture.⁷⁶ Abstinence will be re-examined separately in the chapter on preventive measures. It can only be stated at this point that the scope and effectiveness of this proclamation in Africa are disputed:

A major question is whether the proclamation of the ideal of sexual abstinence outside of marriage really leads to less risky behaviour among Christians. After this presumption had been long presumed to be highly unrealistic and even counter-productive, the indications are now growing that particularly in African countries the influence exerted by religious communities has had a positive impact on behaviour changes, especially among the young.⁷⁷

2.1.4. Gender roles

As is shown by the above, a variety of factors lead to greater vulnerability to HIV/AIDS. It has already become clear that these factors are not simply "there", but that they are in turn an expression of certain pre-existing cultural or economic circumstances. The most influential of these contextual conditions includes the cultural construction of gender roles in Africa. Such studies show that women are not only infected twice as frequently as men, but that they are infected with HIV an average of between five and ten years earlier than men.⁷⁸

⁷⁵ cf. *Ramjee*, Female sex workers, 336.

⁷⁶ cf. *Gichure*, AIDS Stories as a Process of Healing, 104.

⁷⁷ Benn, Der Einfluss von Weltanschauung und Kultur, 19 (original German; nonofficial translation). BENN refers here to studies carried out in Senegal and Uganda on the efficiency of Christian and Muslim prevention methods. This article however does not provide any concrete figures. These study results may however indicate that abstinence is accepted when it is entrenched in a (religious) value system which is communicated interculturally with abstinence.

⁷⁸ cf. *Abdool Karim*, Heterosexual transmission of HIV, 287.

The African gender role construction starts with the patriarchate which is dominant there.⁷⁹ This fundamental patriarchal construction of African society leads to a pronounced dominance of the male over the female, and women are therefore frequently regarded as second-class citizens⁸⁰, as weak⁸¹ or as incomplete individuals⁸². It is evident that this perspective leads to glaring inequalities between the genders. African women are suppressed from a very early age⁸³, even if the consequences of the cultural gender role construction does not fully develop until adolescence:

Adolescence may thus be a time when boys gain autonomy, mobility, opportunity and power, including in the sexual und reproductive realm, while girls are deprived of the same privileges.⁸⁴

This list makes it clear that women are fundamentally denied selfdetermination of their lives. The loss of self-determination includes here also all aspects relating to ensuring a livelihood, so that women are economically dependent on men.⁸⁵ In content terms, the African role understanding of women is exclusively based on the two terms: marriage and offspring.

This gender role construction makes women much more vulnerable to HIV/AIDS on several levels⁸⁶. This fact is however revealed particularly clearly in the basic African norms of sexuality, which define different standards for women than for men. Women are fundamentally expected not to concern themselves with the subject of sexuality and to take a more passive role.⁸⁷ This denies them the right to determine their sexuality, or the sexuality that is practiced in their relationship: "Their sexuality

- ⁸⁴ *Harrison*, Young people and HIV/AIDS in South Africa, 308.
- ⁸⁵ cf. *Mwaura*, Violation of Human Rights of Kenyan Women, 128.
- ⁸⁶ cf. *Orobator*, Ethics of HIV/AIDS Prevention, 151–152.

⁷⁹ cf. *Mwaura*, Violation of Human Rights of Kenyan Women, 127.

⁸⁰ cf. ebd. 129.

⁸¹ cf. *Vandi*, The Church's Role in Empowering Women, 75.

⁸² cf. ebd. 76.

⁸³ cf. *Wakhusama*, Abused and Infected with HIV, 171.

⁸⁷ cf. *Abdool Karim*, Heterosexual transmission of HIV, 295.

is objectified and seen in terms of pleasing men. Women do not have the right to own their bodies and to sexuality."⁸⁸ This fundamental perspective in terms of sexual ethics is developed in a variety of individual norms and practices, such as:

- 1. Women have neither the right to refuse sex, nor to insist on specific practices or protective measures.⁸⁹
- 2. Women are expected to be monogamous and faithful, whilst men are allowed to have many relationships and sexual contacts.⁹⁰
- 3. Women are forced to marry older men at an early age⁹¹, so that they have sexual contacts earlier than men do⁹².

Even if women do not share these cultural precepts in individual cases, they have virtually no opportunity to emancipate themselves from them. The widespread nature of these gender roles leads to attempts to break out of such perceived roles leading of necessity to social isolation.⁹³ Men furthermore frequently enforce their claim to dominance by force⁹⁴; specifically by means of physical, sexual and emotional violence⁹⁵. This leads women into a perilous entanglement in unjust structures transmitted by their culture, as violence against women in turn is also culturally legitimised and accepted.⁹⁶ It seems to be evident that the violent enforcement of male-dominated gender roles constitutes an additional vulnerability factor for women in view of HIV and AIDS. In the same vein, the academic debate on these gender roles and their injustices is difficult

⁸⁸ *Mwaura*, Violation of Human Rights of Kenyan Women, 129.

⁸⁹ cf. *Abdool Karim*, Heterosexual transmission of HIV, 296.

⁹⁰ cf. *Machyo*, Gender Issues, 61.

⁹¹ cf. *Doma*, Educational Response to HIV Prevention, 4.

⁹² Ayanga, Religio-Cultural Challenges, 40. This is one of the reasons why women are previously infected with HIV compared to men.

⁹³ cf. ibd. 38.

⁹⁴ cf. *Kelly*, HIV and AIDS, 124.

⁹⁵ cf. *James*, Factors that Render the Girl-Child Vulnerable, 4.

⁹⁶ cf. *Patrick*, Violence against Women, 109.

since most Africans are convinced "that gender issues are not African issues; [...] they are western, feminist [...]."⁹⁷

In the context of gender inequality, the topic of education must also be touched upon. The patriarchal structures do not provide women with equal access to educational facilities and services.⁹⁸ If one focuses this lack of educational equality on the HIV/AIDS problems, a further factor emerges for gender-specific vulnerability to HIV/AIDS:

This imbalance in knowledge is a major obstacle to women's ability to assess their risk and take steps to reduce it; ignorance fosters myths and fears about both risk and prevention options and makes it very difficult for women to be pro-active in negotiating safer sex.⁹⁹

With regard to the cultural role models and the inequalities which they entail, the Church has done little to liberate women from these role categories. On the contrary: The Church in Africa teaches the subordination of women, which is also understood in many places to mean that the Church accepts male violence towards women.¹⁰⁰ There is disagreement in the literature available with regard to the influence exerted by the Church's proclamation on violent attacks on women. Whilst for instance MACHYO stresses that the Church's proclamation condemns violence towards women¹⁰¹, MWAURA and KIMANI claim that the Church is silent on this issue, so that the Church shares guilt as to the violence experienced by African women¹⁰². (Female) voices are also heard on this issue, criticising past attempts to develop or establish inculturated theology in Africa:

African women theologians point out that here culture is approached rather uncritically. Seeking to reclaim and affirm African culture, inculturation theologians would overlook cultural traditions of patriarchy that marginalise and oppress women. African women theologians employ a

⁹⁷ *Njoroge*, Resisting Gender Inequality and Injustice in the Name of Jesus, 55.

⁹⁸ cf. *Ayanga*, Religio-Cultural Challenges, 42.

⁹⁹ Abdool Karim, Heterosexual transmission of HIV, 295.

¹⁰⁰ cf. Ayanga, Religio-Cultural Challenges, 41.

¹⁰¹ cf. *Machyo*, Gender Issues, 67.

¹⁰² cf. *Mwaura/Kimani*, Gender Based Violence, 33.

gender-sensitive hermeneutics and a call for a , critical solidarity' with African cultural traditions. $^{\rm 103}$

This summary overview of the cultural gender construction has revealed that the African idea of the Patriarchate leads to discrimination against women en masse. Even if the opinion is prevalent in Africa that the norms and practices put forward here are as a rule "natural and unchangeable"¹⁰⁴, according to KELLY there is no doubt that there is a need to change this gender construction in order to be able to stem the HIV/AIDS epidemic¹⁰⁵.

2.1.5. Stigmatisation and discrimination

Becoming infected with HIV or being affected by AIDS is frequently linked for those concerned with stigmatisation and the resulting discrimination – not only in Africa. The causes of such stigmatisation vary widely. They result in some cases from the nature of the disease itself: HIV/AIDS is incurable and potentially fatal, which naturally leads to considerable fear of infection.¹⁰⁶ The connection of the disease with the sensitive topic of sexuality also provokes a potential stigmatisation of those who are infected with HIV.¹⁰⁷ BANGERT speaks in this contest of a moral AIDS dilemma.¹⁰⁸ This consists of the demand for ethically-responsible sexuality, in order to minimise the risk of infection, thus leading to an infection rapidly becoming associated with personal immorality. As it was just shown, however, this general suspicion frequently affects women, and wrongly so.

The stigmatisation processes in relation with HIV/AIDS should however not be looked at in isolation from the cultural context¹⁰⁹, given that the disease tends to amplify existing prejudices rather than creating new

¹⁰³ Klinken, Transforming masculinities in African Christianity, 27.

¹⁰⁴ *Mwaura/Kimani*, Gender Based Violence, 30.

¹⁰⁵ Vgl. *Kelly*, HIV and AIDS, 127.

¹⁰⁶ cf. *Tombi*, Stigmatisation and discrimination against persons living with HIV, 232.

¹⁰⁷ cf. *Czerny*, Working for Healing, 50.

¹⁰⁸ cf. *Bangert*, HIV und AIDS als theologisches Problem der Kirche, 87.

¹⁰⁹ cf. *Paterson*, Who Sinned?, 164.

ones.¹¹⁰ The stigmatisation therefore particularly affects infected women, who are quickly accused of promiscuity¹¹¹, including by medical personnel¹¹².

If one approaches the phenomenon of stigmatisation at societal level, it can be found that it aims to strictly distinguish between different groups.¹¹³ The negative labelling of the behaviour of infected people constitutes a moral judgment, excluding those concerned from the group of those who conduct themselves "correctly". This exclusion naturally impacts people with HIV themselves:

[T]he stigmatised individual becomes laden with intense disabling feelings of fear, anguish, shame, dejection, self-doubt, guilt, self-blame and inferiority [...].^{n_4}

Even though stigmatisation per se already has a serious impact on those concerned, this is amplified further by the fact that it is accompanied by discrimination in most cases.¹¹⁵ At societal level, discrimination is expressed above all in violations of the elementary rights of HIV/AIDS sufferers:

Violations of the right to work and to employment, of the right to medical treatment and maintenance of medical confidentiality, non-compliance with bioethical principles in research projects, rights violations within the family such as inheritance rights or family assistance, exclusion from religious communities, denial of bank loans and insurance policies, restriction of freedom of travel and movement.¹¹⁶

It is obvious that stigmatisation and discrimination lead to social exclusion 117 , which appear to provide the non-infected with a justification to

¹¹⁰ cf. *Frohlich*, The impact of AIDS on the community, 376.

¹¹¹ cf. Machyo, Gender Issues, 65.

¹¹² cf. *Ayanga*, Religio-Cultural Challenges, 40.

¹¹³ cf. *Kelly*, HIV and AIDS, 130.

¹¹⁴ Ibd.

¹¹⁵ cf. *Frohlich*, The impact of AIDS on the community, 376.

¹¹⁶ *Fleischer/Ochel*, Schlaglichter einer modernen Seuche, 26 (original German; nonofficial translation).

¹¹⁷ cf. *Kamanzi*, Solidarity, a New Categorical Imperative, 26.

treat people with HIV "badly, cruelly, inhumanely"¹¹⁸. This means one thing above all for the sufferers: "AIDS creates fear"¹¹⁹. This fear manifests itself not only in fear of the disease itself, but above all in fear of sharing HIV status with other people.¹²⁰ As a result, stigmatisation and discrimination actually increase vulnerability to HIV infection, as they evoke "a culture of silence and denial"¹²¹ in which people are no longer able to know whether they are engaging in high-risk contact. KHAMALWA concludes for this reason that the stigma linked to HIV/AIDS is the most dangerous aspect of this disease.¹²²

Stigmatisation and discrimination can be found in Africa not only in civil society, but according to the findings of the literature studied here also in the Church's proclamation and practice. At the level of proclamation, the opinion is still put forward that HIV/AIDS is God's punishment for sinful behaviour.¹²³ BATE uses this link as a reason to point out that, whilst there is a connection between behaviour and the disease, this is however frequently wrongly interpreted.¹²⁴ Once again, this misinterpretation affects women above all:

In the face of such stigmatisation, many women living with HIV/AIDS feel unwelcome and condemned when they listen to sermons by clergy who pronounce with seeming authority that HIV/AIDS is God's punishment for sin. Yet this position is not credible, given that many married women, although living faithfully and monogamously, have been infected with HIV/AIDS through their husbands' irresponsible sexual behaviour. Such condemnation makes many HIV+ women stay away from churches thereby cutting themselves off from much-needed union with God at such a needful time.¹²⁵

¹¹⁸ *Czerny*, Working for Healing, 51.

¹¹⁹ Denis, Sexualität und HIV/AIDS in Südafrika, 26 (original German; non-official translation).

¹²⁰ cf. *Frohlich*, The impact of AIDS on the community, 377.

¹²¹ Kelly, HIV and AIDS, 133.

¹²² cf. *Khamalwa*, Religion, Traditional Healers, and the AIDS Pandemic, 89.

¹²³ cf. *Bangert*, HIV und AIDS als theologisches Problem der Kirche, 78.

¹²⁴ cf. *Bate*, HIV Prevention and the Theology of Sin, 195–197.

¹²⁵ Shisanya, Today's Lepers, 150.

This doctrine, in conjunction with mistaken presumptions on the part of the clergy that HIV can for instance be transmitted through the air or by other normal physical contact¹²⁶, is also reflected in a certain marginalising practice on the part of the Church. This ranges from different chalices for HIV-infected and non-infected people, to refusing to shake their hands.¹²⁷ The stigmatisation within the Church however relates not only to the relationship between clergy and laity, but is also felt among the clergy. Since the relationship with sinful behaviour is effective here too, infected clergy are under pressure to maintain secrecy, which is made easier by the fact that there is little commitment within the church community to speak openly about the HIV status of its members.¹²⁸ KELLY considers this to reflect a problematic attitude on the part of the Church vis-à-vis HIV/AIDS:

Not being open about HIV in the life of a priest, pastor or other person professionally dedicated to the religious life, effectively denies solidarity with infected lay people.¹²⁹

Having said that, we should also not forget that a change is taking place within the Church(es), which includes a loving, helping approach being taken towards people who are infected with HIV.¹³⁰

Stigmatisation and fear of stigmatisation, both in civil society and in the Church, therefore create a climate of silence aiming to hide one's own HIV+ status. For the infected, this also means that they are unable to seek medical assistance without risking revealing their status.¹³¹ By contrast, this climate places the non-infected in the dangerous situation of being unable to know whether their (sexual) partner is providing truthful information on an infection, so that the potential risk of contagion is increased.

¹²⁶ cf. *Vitillo*, The Human and Pastoral Challenges of HIV and AIDS, 38.

¹²⁷ cf. *Shisanya*, Today's Lepers, 161.

¹²⁸ cf. *Kelly*, HIV and AIDS, 242.

¹²⁹ Ibd.

¹³⁰ cf. *Shisanya*, Today's Lepers, 161.

¹³¹ cf. *Machyo*, Gender Issues, 65.

2.1.6. Poverty

"AIDS is a disease of the poor and underprivileged."¹³² These few words bring up a further major vulnerability factor with regard to HIV/AIDS. According to ACKERMANN, 90 % of all HIV-infected people live in developing countries.¹³³ Within the literature that was investigated, the connection between poverty and HIV/AIDS is reflected at two levels. At societal and structural level, poverty leads to a lack of medical infrastructure¹³⁴, and little money can be invested in educational campaigns¹³⁵. The problem can also be found at structural level that poverty in Africa affects women to a disproportionate extent¹³⁶, thus further exacerbating the position for women, which is already generally difficult. At individual level, poverty first of all results in a lack of economic resources "to pay for tests, diseases accompanying the HIV virus, transport to the clinic, food, school fees (for instance for sick children) and the like".¹³⁷ Poverty is so prevalent in some cases that there is no money even for condoms.¹³⁸ Being exposed to such extreme poverty however also means that life is a constant battle to satisfy elementary needs, which makes a mockery of the idea of longer-term life planning.¹³⁹ These reasons generally lead to behaviour on the part of the poor which increases their vulnerability with regard to HIV/AIDS, but which they hope will help them to survive on a day-by-day basis. The literature repeatedly cites prostitution and labour migration in this connection. Since prostitution has already been discussed in No. 2.1.3, we will now only briefly discuss labour migration:

¹³² *Nubuasah*, Salvation and Liberation in Africa, 123.

¹³³ cf. Ackermann, "Deep in the Flesh", 110.

¹³⁴ cf. *Bujo*, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 206.

¹³⁵ cf. *Bujo*, Community Ethics, 70.

¹³⁶ cf. *Hinga*, Becoming Better Samaritans, 93.

¹³⁷ *Bujo*, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 205 (original German; non-official translation).

¹³⁸ cf. *Doma*, Educational Response to HIV Prevention, 3.

¹³⁹ cf. *Kelly*, HIV and AIDS, 115.

The phenomenon of labour migration primarily affects men from rural areas who try to find better-paid work around the major cities.¹⁴⁰ Given that they are separated from their families for prolonged periods and are no longer subject to local social controls¹⁴¹, extra-marital sexual intercourse is common among such labour migrants – particularly since marital faithfulness is not a strict moral principle for men in Africa.¹⁴² This behaviour increases not only the infection risk of the men, but also that of their wives when the men return home and have unprotected sexual intercourse with them.

If the person who is responsible for ensuring the economic security of the family is infected with HIV, the family's poverty situation worsens further:

The combination of losing that person's income or contribution in terms of daily household chores and the financial burden of expensive medical treatment, leads to problems of food security and other material needs in the household.¹⁴³

Poverty therefore leads not only to increased vulnerability to HIV/AIDS, but HIV/AIDS also leads to an increased poverty risk.¹⁴⁴ This poverty risk once more particularly affects the children of HIV-infected parents. On one hand, the disease of the parents, or of one parent, requires children to take responsibility for looking after the sick family members at an early age.¹⁴⁵ It may often adversely affect the children's schooling.¹⁴⁶ On the other hand, children of parents suffering from AIDS are subject to a latent risk of becoming orphans. Given that this places them in an even more precarious situation¹⁴⁷, orphans are in turn forced to develop dangerous survival strategies.

¹⁴⁰ cf. *Kamanzi*, Solidarity, a New Categorical Imperative, 22.

¹⁴¹ cf. ibd. 23.

¹⁴² cf. *Ayanga*, Religio-Cultural Challenges, 43.

¹⁴³ James, Factors that Render the Girl-Child Vulnerable, 7.

¹⁴⁴ cf. *Kamanzi*, Solidarity, a New Categorical Imperative, 22.

¹⁴⁵ cf. *Fleischer/Ochel*, Schlaglichter einer modernen Seuche, 27.

¹⁴⁶ cf. *James*, Factors that Render the Girl-Child Vulnerable, 7.

¹⁴⁷ cf. ibd. 6.

This information regarding the close connection between poverty and vulnerability to HIV/AIDS reflects the common sense that is expressed in the literature taken as a basis here. KELLY breaks ranks from this commonly-held conviction by stating that high-risk behaviour cannot be found solely among poor people, but also among the non-poor, so that people with higher incomes have a higher HIV prevalence than those with lower incomes.¹⁴⁸ This is because

Being better-off makes it possible to adopt certain lifestyles and behaviours. Wealth [...] has been found to be associated with earlier male sexual debut, less likelihood of being faithful to one's partner and a greater likelihood of having multiple partners. Wealth also provides more opportunities for travel and casual sex, and more resources to pay for transactional and intergenerational sex. All of this implies that individuals who are relatively more affluent, be they women or men are more likely to be infected with HIV than the poorest people.¹⁴⁹

KELLY therefore criticises a one-sided focus on the poor when it comes to HIV/AIDS prevention. The non-poor too need to be observed, for instance with campaigns which are tailored to this target group.¹⁵⁰

This broader view of the economic background to the HIV/AIDS epidemic is certainly helpful. However, it also makes it clear that – although both income groups show high-risk behaviour – the starting situations are however quite different. The fundamental difference, which also justifies giving preferential treatment to the poor, is their lack of freedom of action. Whilst their situation frequently offers them, or appears to offer them, no alternative to ensuring their survival and that of their families with high-risk behaviour, the non-poor do not face such existential pressure.¹⁵¹ According to KELLY, they are therefore free to opt either for or against high-risk behaviour.

¹⁴⁸ cf. *Kelly*, HIV and AIDS, 111.

¹⁴⁹ Ibd. 112.

¹⁵⁰ cf. ebd.

¹⁵¹ cf. ebd. 116.

All in all, therefore, CHUMMAR is likely to be right to say that poverty is a central element of the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Africa¹⁵² if we consider that the non-poor also constitute a group with increased vulnerability.

2.1.7. Interim conclusion

This summary overview of the spread and vulnerability factors has shown how complex the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Africa is and in what complicated manner the individual aspects are linked. There is no need to mention here that it has not been possible to cite all the influencing factors. Other factors include female genital mutilation¹⁵³, other sexually-transmitted diseases¹⁵⁴, mother-child transmission¹⁵⁵ and certain healing theologies¹⁵⁶.

It also becomes clear without developing these other phenomena in detail that HIV/AIDS is not simply a disease which can be countered by medical means pure and simple, but above all cultural, economic and religious aspects need to be looked at. Against this background, the Church in Africa also needs to face the question as to the extent to which She is promoting attitudes and actions in Her doctrines and pastoral

¹⁵² cf. *Chummar*, HIV/AIDS in Africa, 155.

¹⁵³ cf. James, Factors that Render the Girl-Child Vulnerable, 5: "This practice poses a great danger to the initiates if any are HIV positive. This is because some women surgeons use the same blade to initiate each of the girls. Furthermore, the external genital mutilation of circumcised girls tends to leave scar tissue, which easily tears during sexual intercourse making it easier for women to become infected."

¹⁵⁴ cf. *Denis*, Sexualität und HIV/AIDS in Südafrika, 33: "The incidence of such infections [...] considerably increases the probability of infection. Sexually-transmitted diseases are however very rarely treated in Africa." (original German; non-official translation).

¹⁵⁵ cf. *Fleischer/Ochel*, Schlaglichter einer modernen Seuche, 27.

¹⁵⁶ cf. *Mboya*, A local Church's holistic response to HIV/AIDS, 133: "The danger of this teaching is that it creates room for the person for whom prayer has been offered to live in denial of his or her status and to refrain from seeking medical help in an effort not to interfere with the healing or faith. This may mean that the person would view HIV/AIDS testing as unnecessary, as undergoing it would indicate a lack of faith, which would then frustrate the healing."

practice which do more to support the spread of HIV and AIDS than to stem it.

2.2. Preventive measures

The distinction that has been introduced between exposure to the virus and contagion makes it clear that not all high-risk contact must also lead to an infection since suitable preventive measures can reduce the risk of the virus being transmitted. Those preventive measures will therefore now be explored which according to the literature, firstly, can minimise the individual risk of an HIV infection with high-risk contact and, secondly, are to stem the phenomenon at societal level.

2.2.1. Changing behaviour

The be all and end all of many preventive measures is the call to change (sexual) high-risk behaviour.¹⁵⁷ Something which at first sight appears to be highly plausible and simple is a somewhat complex topic when looked at more closely. It has already been revealed here that HIV/AIDS-relevant behaviour in Africa is predominantly determined by cultural convictions or economic constraints. The idea that individuals who are either already infected, or indeed not, would alter their behaviour in order to protect others or themselves although the socio-economic conditions remain the same appears to be utopian wishful thinking. When it comes to those who are already infected, BANGERT points out that the structure of the disease itself makes it difficult to change behaviour. Since a considerable period of time passes between the time of the infection and the first symptoms occurring, infected people are not immediately forced to change their behaviour.¹⁵⁸

In spite of these obstacles, it is nonetheless evident that effective HIV/AIDS prevention must be accompanied by a change of behaviour on the part of those concerned. MATHEWS sums up as follows the conditions that need to apply in order to do so:

¹⁵⁷ cf. *Ayanga*, Religio-Cultural Challenges, 44.

¹⁵⁸ cf. *Bangert*, HIV und AIDS als theologisches Problem der Kirche, 81.

[T]he individual:

- (a) has a strong positive intention to perform it;
- (b) is not impeded by constraints, either external or internal to the person, that make the behaviour difficult to achieve;
- (c) perceives more social or normative pressure from relevant referents to perform the behaviour than not to perform the behaviour;
- (d) has the necessary skills to perform the behaviour;
- (e) believes that the perceived advantages outweigh the perceived costs, i.e. the person has a positive attitude toward performing the behaviour;
- (f) perceives the performance of the behaviour to be consistent with his/her self-image;
- (g) has an emotional reaction to performing the behaviour that is more positive than negative and
- (h) perceives that he/she has the capabilities to perform the behaviour under a number of different circumstances.¹⁵⁹

2.2.2. The ABC method

The call to change behaviour is detailed as a rule using the "ABC method" (abstinence, be faithful, use condoms), which is the prevention strategy that receives the greatest amount of publicity¹⁶⁰, and which clearly targets individual high-risk behaviour. The order of the three individual prevention methods can also be understood such that they are not a contingent result of the play on words, but constitute a sequence. This would then primarily call for sexual abstinence until a stable partnership (ideally marriage) is established, in which mutual faithfulness is required. If it is not possible to remain faithful to one's partner, the use of condoms is strongly recommended.

The literature does not question the benefit ensuing from abstinence and faithfulness when it comes to fighting the HIV/AIDS epidemic – although gender inequality leads to women being denied their right to sexual self-determination; by contrast, the contribution made by condom use is disputed. As will be shown below, the authors however do not take up

¹⁵⁹ *Mathews*, Reducing sexual risk behaviours, 165.

¹⁶⁰ cf. Abdool Karim, Heterosexual transmission of HIV, 292.

the fundamental doctrinal ban on condoms as a contraceptive, but advance other arguments.

However, it must first be noted that, according to various studies, the continuous, and correct, use of condoms reduces the risk of infection by roughly 80 %.¹⁶¹ It can further be shown that the willingness to use condoms rises if people already have experience of using them.¹⁶² Nevertheless the level of acceptance of condoms tends to be low in Africa, as they are generally associated with "infidelity, lack of trust and the possibility of infection"¹⁶³.

Condoms however only offer maximum protection against HIV infection if they are actually used on each instance of sexual intercourse and are not badly manufactured or used wrongly.¹⁶⁴ This leads to the first point of criticism, since a certain level of quality in the manufacturing process of condoms cannot always be guaranteed in Africa.¹⁶⁵ Even if the manufacturers were able to ensure the necessary quality, the problem would remain that condoms are not available in all places in Africa.¹⁶⁶ As serious as these problems may be, they would be relatively easy to solve in technical terms. What would however remain would be the only relative protection which condoms provide. "Even if it is only a small percentage, no one can be certain that they are not among them."¹⁶⁷ Critics hence accuse the proponents of condoms of pretending to offer a safety which condoms simply cannot provide, and hence inciting people to engage in high-risk behaviour. KEENAN replies on this that, even if it does not pro-

¹⁶¹ cf. ibd. 293.

¹⁶² cf. *Myer*, Barrier methods, 193.

¹⁶³ Ibd.

¹⁶⁴ cf. *Keenan*, Vier Aufgaben der theologischen Ethik, 307.

¹⁶⁵ cf. *Bujo*, Community Ethics, 75.

¹⁶⁶ cf. *Myer*, Barrier methods, 194.

¹⁶⁷ *Bujo*, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 203 (original German; non-official translation).

vide 100 % protection, "this method offers a significant level of protection"¹⁶⁸ for sexual contacts.

A further criticism addresses not the protective potential of condoms, but targets a more general level. OROBATOR for instance stresses that condoms while providing protection only treat "symptoms" of the HIV/AIDS epidemic: "[T]hey do not address the root causes of the disease."¹⁶⁹ And BUJO goes on to state:

Many people, and the young in particular, feel that condom use is equivalent to a victory over the deadly virus, and they no longer make efforts to change their sexual behaviour, which is however what could actually effectively combat the real cause of the disease.¹⁷⁰

CHUMMAR adopts a culture-sensitive perspective on condoms. He feels that condoms cannot be the solution to HIV/AIDS in Africa. As they are a Western solution, "it can never be an inculturated solution for the people of Africa."¹⁷¹ The solution to the problem in Africa would however have to be one that took the cultural convictions and values of African people into consideration.¹⁷²

A final evaluation of the entire ABC strategy is ambiguous. Since the main cause of the epidemic in Africa is unprotected sexual intercourse, the triad of abstinence, faithfulness and using condoms does actually constitute a set of tools providing protection. Since however the strategy remains static at the individual ethical level, it is blind to cultural and structural influencing factors:

This strategy can however not be applied to most women: It ignores the deep-seated patriarchal norms giving men the right to decide under what conditions sexual intercourse takes place, that is whether force is used or condoms may be used. [...] Effective HIV prevention must therefore go

¹⁶⁸ *Keenan,* Vier Aufgaben der theologischen Ethik, 307 (original German; non-official translation).

¹⁶⁹ Orobator, Ethics of HIV/AIDS Prevention, 153.

¹⁷⁰ Bujo, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 205 (original German; non-official translation).

¹⁷¹ Chummar, Inculturated Theological Ethics in Africa, 37.

¹⁷² cf. ibd.

beyond ABC. It must appropriately enable women and girls to implement what they have learned in their lives. It must also change the structures making women vulnerable, meaning changing property rights and promoting the economic independence of women and girls.¹⁷³

2.2.3. Antiretroviral therapy (ARV/ART)

It is also possible to entrench antiretroviral therapy in the context of the preventive measures to prevent the spread of the epidemic. The priority goal of this therapy is to use the antiretroviral medicines to reduce the viral load in the body to below the detection limit.¹⁷⁴ This therapy, which entails conscientiously taking drugs for the rest of one's life, does not cure the disease, but it can delay the development of the infection until the outbreak of AIDS long enough to make normal life expectancy possible. ART opens up new prospects for people infected with HIV, and thus the Church too is committing Herself to an above-average degree to the implementation of ART programmes in Africa.¹⁷⁵ Recent studies have shown that ARTs can not only delay the outbreak of AIDS, but can also reduce the risk of transmission:

Results announced today by the United States National Institutes of Health show that if an HIV-positive person adheres to an effective antiretroviral therapy regimen, the risk of transmitting the virus to their uninfected sexual partner can be reduced by 96 %.¹⁷⁶

Effective ARTs therefore protect the non-infected partner with a higher success rate than for instance condoms can.

This success story of ARTs can however not deny the fact that this therapy has come up against certain obstacles in Africa: The medicines administered themselves constitute a considerable strain on the body, and often have major side-effects. The therapy also requires the medicines to be taken continuously and consistently in order both to be successful

¹⁷³ Weinreich, HIV und AIDS aus Sicht einer christlichen Frau, 143–144 (original German; non-official translation).

¹⁷⁴ cf. *Mboya*, A local Church's holistic response to HIV/AIDS, 133.

¹⁷⁵ cf. *Czerny*, ARVs When Possible, 98.

¹⁷⁶ UNAIDS/WHO, Press Release.

and also to prevent the virus becoming resistant.¹⁷⁷ But even if they are taken correctly, the effectiveness of the medicines has been shown to fall off over time, thus making it necessary to re-adjust the dosage. All of this requires a medical infrastructure in the environments in which the patients live, something which can rarely be guaranteed in Africa¹⁷⁸:

[P]roper medical and social infrastructure must first be in place; medical staff need to be trained in ARV therapy, testing facilities for blood products must be available, counselling services are required, as are other technical and support structures.¹⁷⁹

The medicines are also very expensive¹⁸⁰, and many infected people have little or no chance of being able to pay for them.

As well as these structural difficulties related to ARTs, other reservations remain against this form of therapy. ARTs are regarded as a Western form of therapy which does insufficient justice to the cultural background in Africa.¹⁸¹ In conjunction with a strong anti-Western interpretation of HIV and AIDS – HIV as a Western "invention" to weaken Africa – there is also major prejudices against ARTs, which are regarded as just another way of earning money in Africa.¹⁸² Added to this are reservations against ARTs, which are primarily put forward by the Pentecostal/Evangelical Churches. They fear that these medical developments will undermine their HIV/AIDS method, which primarily consists of sexual abstinence.¹⁸³

Even though ARTs therefore have a positive impact on the life expectancy and quality of life of infected people, as well as drastically minimising the risk of disease transmission, this form of therapy is contingent on a developed medical and social infrastructure, and it entails reservations

¹⁷⁷ cf. *Czerny*, ARVs When Possible, 99.

¹⁷⁸ cf. *Bujo*, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 206.

¹⁷⁹ *Mulligan*, Confronting the challenge, 65.

¹⁸⁰ cf. *Czerny*, ARVs When Possible, 99. No concrete figures are provided here.

¹⁸¹ cf. ibd. 100.

¹⁸² cf. *Chummar*, HIV/AIDS in Africa, 159.

¹⁸³ cf. *Burchardt*, The logic of therapeutic habitus, 53–54.

and risks, thus making it difficult to adequately supply the population in Africa.

2.2.4. Cultural development

This literature study documents the fact that, in the unanimous opinion of the various authors, neither an effective fight against HIV/AIDS in Africa, nor an African theology of HIV and AIDS, can do without the cultural convictions. As has been shown, inculturated methods and solutions are repeatedly and rightly called for which are to link to positive aspects of African culture. The presentation of the vulnerability factors in this study has however also made it clear that there are equally problematic cultural convictions, norms and practices which increase the risk of infection instead of reducing it. A comprehensive prevention strategy must therefore also attempt to trigger a cultural development in order to minimise the vulnerability and high-risk behaviour of women and men within this cultural group.¹⁸⁴

This perspective is naturally contingent on culture not being an inflexible concept, but dynamic and adaptable. Many authors – albeit not all of them – presume the existence of such an adaptable understanding of culture.¹⁸⁵ It is interesting at this point to see how cultural norms can be changed. Here too, the method of an "inculturated method" appears to be the most promising, that is cultural changes should not be primarily forced from the outside, but should take place from within one's own culture.¹⁸⁶ BENN reports of a successful example of such a process of change:

One example is the widespread tradition of the sexual cleansing of widows who are 'inherited' by male relatives of the deceased man. Case studies from Zambia show that there is an increasing understanding of the risks of HIV and AIDS that are connected with these practices. This has led to village elders and chiefs, who exert a major influence on cultural

¹⁸⁴ cf. *Green/Ruark*, AIDS, behavior, and culture, 48.

¹⁸⁵ cf. for instance Ayanga, Religio-Cultural Challenges, 37; Benn, Der Einfluss von Weltanschauung und Kultur, 26; Odozor, Morality truly Christian, truly African, 171.

¹⁸⁶ cf. *Bujo*, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 156.

practices, handing down local laws to abolish these traditions. The tradition of social assistance and of the symbolic cleansing of widows has not been abolished, but replaced by alternative rituals which were of a more symbolic nature and avoid the risk of HIV transmission.¹⁸⁷

This example not only shows how the separate development of the culture can take place, but also reveals what fundamental evaluation criterion can be taken as a basis when it comes to re-orientating cultural ideas: It is vital here to distinguish between promoting life and endangering it.¹⁸⁸ True, this distinction requires to be made more concrete, but it permits an initial assessment to be made with regard to the value attaching to cultural norms and practices. It is important here that this fundamental criterion is in turn in harmony with African culture. If one concurs with BUJO, this evaluation standard is deeply anchored in African thinking:

It should therefore be repeated once more, as we have done for other areas, that the ancestors, were they alive today, would no longer hold on to their traditions if they did not promote life, but in fact brought death.¹⁸⁹

The role played by the Church and other religious groups within this process of cultural self-renewal should not be underestimated. They are rooted in the local structures in most instances¹⁹⁰, and hold considerable authority within the population¹⁹¹, which however turns into hubris in some cases:

Only Christian faith can impact the worldview of those who exercise the sexual practices which are primarily responsible for the spread of HIV and AIDS. $^{192}\,$

This notwithstanding, it is a major task of the Church in Africa and of African theology to take a critical view of African culture.¹⁹³ Apart from

¹⁸⁷ Benn, Der Einfluss von Weltanschauung und Kultur, 21 (original German; nonofficial translation).

¹⁸⁸ cf. *Odozor*, Morality truly Christian, truly African, 84.

¹⁸⁹ *Bujo*, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 183 (original German; non-official translation).

¹⁹⁰ cf. *Benn*, Der Einfluss von Weltanschauung und Kultur, 24.

¹⁹¹ cf. *Mboya*, A local Church's holistic response to HIV/AIDS, 125.

¹⁹² Correll, HIV/AIDS, 34 (original German; non-official translation).

the general distinguishing principle of "promoting life vs. endangering life", which is compatible with liberation theological and feminist theological methods from Africa¹⁹⁴, the literature does not offer many normative methods from which the cultural reflection of the Church could depart. Only recourse to Holy Scriptures appears to be common, which is generally regarded in the theological literature as an important normative foundation. Thus, for instance NKANSAH-OBREMPONG calls as follows:

We must challenge cultural practices and values, social hierarchy, unhealthy relationship between husband (man) and wife (woman), relationships between parents and children, unfair or unjust cultural practices that have moral implications for the community's members that are incompatible with biblical ethics. We must repudiate such cultural practices. Throughout the Scriptures, we are exhorted to disengage ourselves from the things and practices that characterized our former ways of life that did not please God. These values should not determine our behavior any longer because the triune God has given us a higher cultural value that He has modeled for us.¹⁹⁵

What these and similar methods however overlook is the fact that Biblical ethics too – whatever form their content may take – are only accessible to us in the shape of cultural conditionalities. A direct transfer of Biblical norms from their original cultural context to another context is only possible in most cases if the Biblical norm itself remains general, which in turn requires concretisation in the respective context and circumstances.

The question as to the normative sources of an intercultural theology which approaches cultures in a sensitive, critical manner in general and – in our case – the cultural patterns of Africa, hence does not yet appear to be adequately answered. This circumstance can be exemplified once more using a concrete example: "virgin testing", that is the requirement that a woman be a virgin when marrying and this also being tested. Whilst for instance BUJO considers this practice to constitute a contribu-

¹⁹³ cf. *Thawale*, African Anthropology and Holistic Pastoral Approach to HIV/AIDS, 35.

¹⁹⁴ cf. *Lindorfer*, Skizzen zur Prävention von HIV, 119–120.

¹⁹⁵ cf. *Nkansah-Obrempong*, Foundations for African Theological Ethics, 309.

tion towards HIV prevention¹⁹⁶, other authors vehemently reject it. The responsibility for safe sexuality is said to lie solely with women in this case, which further cements gender inequalities.¹⁹⁷ Furthermore, "virgin testing" is said to promote anal sex to maintain virginity¹⁹⁸, which in turn entails a heightened risk of infection (see No. 2.1.3). Depending on the point of view, therefore, one and the same cultural practice is assessed as either positive or normative. In order to be able to resolve this conflict, it is vital to reveal the normative background of such an evaluation and to reflect on it as to its consistency and coherence.

These difficulties must naturally not lead to a situation in which attempts are terminated to respectfully integrate life-promoting elements of African culture into an HIV/AIDS strategy and theology and to transform or abolish life-endangering aspects. Cultural development is a cornerstone for getting the epidemic in Africa under control.

2.2.5. Education

A further important preventive measure is education action regarding HIV and AIDS. Even if there are voices which stress that education alone does not lead to changes in behaviour¹⁹⁹, education is nonetheless regarded as an important element in the fight against HIV/AIDS²⁰⁰. High-risk behaviour can only be avoided by knowing which acts are risky and what alternatives exist. Although this is primarily concerned with communicating knowledge on sexuality, symptoms, infection paths, etc., it is also about education in a more comprehensive sense. Poverty and economic dependence are also induced by education in Africa²⁰¹, so that a lack of education leads to a heightened vulnerability to HIV/AIDS.

¹⁹⁶ cf. *Bujo*, Community Ethics, 75.

¹⁹⁷ cf. *Abdool Karim*, Heterosexual transmission of HIV, 300.

¹⁹⁸ cf. *Haddad*, Poverty, Gendered Cultural Sexual Practices and HIV, 15.

¹⁹⁹ cf. *Kamaara*, The Impact of HIV and AIDS on Vulnerable Groups, 82.

²⁰⁰ cf. *Nduku*, The Impact of Poverty, Illiteracy and Ignorance, 53.

²⁰¹ cf. *Ayanga*, Religio-Cultural Challenges, 42.

The demand for education efforts in the (expanded) field of HIV/AIDS, which the Church must also face²⁰², is voiced above all with regard to three "target groups":

- Since women are much more vulnerable than men in Africa, it is primarily mentioned that there is an urgent need to offer education for women.²⁰³
- 2. Traditional healers and other authorities constitute another important target group:

Traditional healers and opinion-leaders should be enabled to receive qualified training and attend HIV/AIDS prevention activities from the outset. Then they can also be expected to change dangerous myths or practices. Neglecting them and what they say about the HIV/AIDS phenomenon would be counterproductive, and would neglect important options in prevention.²⁰⁴

3. And finally, clergy, Religious and pastoral workers need a sound HIV/AIDS education. They are frequently confronted with infected people or the diseased, and are asked for advice, but: "[t]heir knowledge of the pandemic is rudimentary."²⁰⁵ This disqualifies them from offering appropriate assistance to those who need it.

²⁰² cf. *Nduku*, The Impact of Poverty, Illiteracy and Ignorance, 54.

²⁰³ cf. ibd.

²⁰⁴ Benn, Der Einfluss von Weltanschauung und Kultur, 26 (original German; nonofficial translation).

²⁰⁵ *Nubuasah*, Salvation and Liberation in Africa, 125.

3. African-theological reflections on the HIV/AIDS epidemic

The analysis of the HIV/AIDS epidemic by the theologians listed here shows that HIV and AIDS constitute a medical, cultural and economic challenge. However, this approach to the epidemic would remain lacking were one to disregard its religious dimension: "HIV and AIDS demand answers to existential questions"²⁰⁶ Many people in Africa expect the Church to provide assistance and helpful answers to their concerns, needs and questions with regard to HIV and AIDS. If one takes a look at Her practical actions, it is however revealed that the African Church and Her workers do not speak with one voice; the attempts to provide answers vary from condemnation and exclusion on the one hand to sympathy and support on the other.²⁰⁷

This tension is certainly also based in the complex topics which are concerned by the HIV/AIDS problem in Africa. All the aspects of the epidemic that have been put forward here need to be considered in a theological response, so that a theology in the face of HIV and AIDS needs to be holistic in terms of its basic concept:

The methodology of HIV/AIDS theology must be holistic because of the diversity of ways this issue is being addressed. As well, because of its very complex nature that involves natural sciences, human sciences, education, philosophy, and theology, it should be addressed in a holistic way.²⁰⁸

Although this expectation as to the Church's response and theological reactions is justified, it might however lead to a misinterpretation of the Church's position: The Church would be outside the HIV/AIDS problem, and could nonetheless provide answers from outside. HIV and AIDS are however also Church realities, and by no means only a problem affecting "others": faithful, priests and bishops are "infected with the HI virus, have

²⁰⁶ Bangert, HIV und AIDS als theologisches Problem der Kirche, 83 (original German; non-official translation).

²⁰⁷ cf. *Nubuasah*, Salvation and Liberation in Africa, 125.

²⁰⁸ Okambawa, African HIV/AIDS theology, 337.

already fallen foul of AIDS or have even died [...].^{"209} HIV and AIDS surround the Church in Africa, and form part of Her; this requires a reflection of the Church's understanding of Herself and of Her mission.²¹⁰ A theology of HIV/AIDS must hence both reflect the situation of infected and sick people, and the theological position of the Church in Africa against the background of the epidemic. This intertwining of HIV/AIDS with the Church is incorporated in theological terms with the image of the body of Christ: "When all baptised are parts of the body of Christ, the infection of one single member has consequences for all other parts."²¹¹ The infection or illness of one individual hence means – figuratively – the infection and illness of all parts.

MAJAWA formulates two questions in the face of this challenge, which a theology of HIV/AIDS should work out:

How can we build a living, vibrant, self reliant and transformative African Church in the face of HIV/AIDS? How can the Church preach and witness to the Gospel of hope and values of development while confronting imminent death?²¹²

In this sense, elements of an African theology will be presented below in the face of HIV/AIDS.

3.1. The foundation of a theology of HIV/AIDS: Inculturation

The theologians cited here agree that only an inculturated theology "can answer the real issues [...] and give real guidance and hope in Africa."²¹³ The call for such an inculturated and contextual theology is based here amongst other things on the circumstance that questions and problems occur in the various cultures which are not adequately answered and

²⁰⁹ *Bangert*, HIV und AIDS als theologisches Problem der Kirche, 79 (original German; non-official translation).

²¹⁰ cf. *Orobator*, When AIDS Comes to Church, 120.

²¹¹ Bujo, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 228 (original German; non-official translation); cf. also Mwaura, Violation of Human Rights of Kenyan Women, 140.

²¹² Majawa, Concluding Remarks, 125.

²¹³ Ibd. 134.

solved by traditional (European) theology.²¹⁴ An African theology hence always has inherent in it a momentum of "rebellion" against a negative qualification of African culture and history.²¹⁵ Conversely, a truly inculturated theology which appreciates African culture would remove from theology the aftertaste of cultural colonialism and make it more acceptable to Africans.²¹⁶

This sparks an existential demand for an African theology and an African understanding of the Church, which SANTEDI expresses as follows:

The Churches in Africa cannot be imitations or officially-certified duplicates of the Churches in Europe. They are called upon to determine their own authentic manifestation. [...] This [...] perspective of inculturation impacts both the Churches in Africa and the Universal Church. It means that the life and thinking of the Church can no longer be understood monolithically, but in terms of the diversity of the cultures. This includes in highly practical terms the assertion of cultural identities within the Universal Church, as well as the possibility for these peoples to interpret and express Christianity in a different way in their lives.²¹⁷

African theology naturally does not come from nowhere, but can and must play a critical role in the theological tradition of the past. ODOZOR sees four pillars here on which an inculturated African theology should be based:²¹⁸ the Holy Scriptures, God's unique revelation in Jesus Christ, African tradition and Christian tradition.

The desire for an African theology of HIV/AIDS is given concrete form in the literature by virtue of diverse elements of such a theology being named and their position being reflected in the African context.

²¹⁴ cf. *Odozor*, Morality truly Christian, truly African, 10.

²¹⁵ cf. ibd. 12.

²¹⁶ cf. *Bujo*, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 234.

²¹⁷ Santedi Kinkupu, Für die Inkulturation der Glaubenslehre, 435 (original German; non-official translation).

²¹⁸ cf. *Odozor*, Morality truly Christian, truly African, 21–22.

3.2. Components of an African theology of HIV/AIDS

An African theology of HIV/AIDS focuses on theological ethics, ecclesiology, the doctrine on the sacraments and the Church's pastoral practice. Other topics, such as the liturgy²¹⁹, are also touched upon in individual cases, but the vast majority of publications are focussed on these topical areas.

3.2.1. Theological ethics

The HIV/AIDS epidemic poses a challenge to theological ethics at both individual ethical and at social ethical levels. Here, above all the individual ethical and moral theological discussion shows that traditional European moral theology tends to start with the individual, whilst the African reflection on values and norms is based more firmly on communal thinking.²²⁰ BUJO criticises in this context a misunderstood universality of norms which serves solely to "silence other cultures without engaging in any dialogue whatever."²²¹

CHUMMAR is less radical in his identification of four principles of inculturated ethics in Africa:

- 1. First and foremost, is the ,Principle of Life', which is the highest good and God's most precious gift for us in African culture and belief.
- 2. The ,Principle of Liberation', which serves to liberate the people and their life from all possible ways of new slaveries and sufferings poverty, illness, faith in an evil spirit and its power, economic and political oppression and exploitation based on the liberation paradigm of Jesus of Nazareth.
- 3. The ,Principle of Inclusion' by which not only the ,oppressed' is liberated, but also the ,Oppressor' from his/her oppressive methods, so that a holistic salvation can take place and the liberation become a permanent reality.

²¹⁹ cf. *Njoroge*, A body of knowledge for HIV research, 133.

²²⁰ cf. *Bujo*, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 229.

²²¹ Ibd. 236–237 (original German; non-official translation).

4. The Principle of Faith and Moral Relevance' in line with the official Church, which establishes the universal characteristics to ensure its standing in union with the Catholic and Apostolic Church.²²²

These principles and the concrete problems posed by HIV/AIDS lead to certain topics of theological ethics which require a more intensive discussion and greater commitment on the part of the Church:

- There is a need for an African-theological reflection on the understanding of sin and sinful behaviour with regard to HIV/AIDS which has both a Biblical and an African-anthropological foundation.²²³
- A further topic is the Church's understanding of sexuality. The African experience with HIV/AIDS confronts the Church's doctrines with the fact that sexuality "is a social reality which is characterised by social, economic and cultural factors."²²⁴ This experience has received inadequate attention to date.
- In terms of lending concrete form to the understanding of sexuality, the Church in Africa is called upon to implement the Catholic teaching on marriage in Africa in such a way that the essence of marriage is not swallowed up in fertility: "A human-African, Christian life is certainly also possible if there are no offspring."²²⁵ Such an implementation with regard to marriages between discordant couples could promote the acceptance of condoms and prevent the transmission of the infection to the offspring.
- Another topic within the Church's sexual morals which requires profound reflection is condom use. Even if they certainly do not

²²² Chummar, Inculturated Theological Ethics in Africa, 45.

²²³ cf. *Bate*, HIV Prevention and the Theology of Sin, 189.

²²⁴ Denis, Sexualität und HIV/AIDS in Südafrika, 41 (original German; non-official translation).

²²⁵ Bujo, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 154 (original German; non-official translation).

constitute a final solution to the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Africa²²⁶, they are nonetheless one of the most effective technical aids to prevent infection²²⁷. In terms of the Universal Church, there is hence a need to consider whether the prevalent guiding ethical perspective – condoms as an artificial contraception method – does justice to the situation in Africa with regard to the epidemic, or in fact should be expanded to include the aspect of infection prevention. The (cultural) reservations which were presented at No. 2.2.2 should also be dealt with at the intercultural level.

• Finally, the Church in Africa is called upon – starting with the fact of all people being created in God's image²²⁸ – to point to structural and individual poverty, uncover social injustices and name their cultural backgrounds:

Dismantling the unjust structures in which gross income inequality, the low status of women, stigma and discrimination, and exploitative global economic practices are embedded, and establishing just structures and practices in their place, will create a terrain in which the human immuno-deficiency virus can no longer flourish.²²⁹

This means in the context of HIV/AIDS in Africa that it is a central challenge for theological ethics to specify an option for the poor as a "preferential option for women and children"²³⁰. Such an option might express itself for instance in theology and Churches in Africa enhancing women's right to sexual self-determination so that they can play an active, equal role in shaping sexuality within partnerships.

²²⁶ cf. *Orobator*, Ethics of HIV/AIDS Prevention, 153.

²²⁷ cf. *Keenan*, Vier Aufgaben der theologischen Ethik, 307.

²²⁸ cf. *Majawa*, Concluding Remarks, 131.

²²⁹ Kelly, HIV and AIDS, 252.

²³⁰ Lebouché et al., Religion in the AIDS Crisis, 173.

3.2.2. Ecclesiology

The problem of HIV and AIDS also challenges the Church to think about the "nature, identity and mission of the Church Herself"²³¹. The self-understanding of the Church in Africa is all the more on the test-bed as it initially adopted, without reflection, a European ecclesiology from the missionaries, which some authors also consider to be responsible for the heightened vulnerability to HIV and AIDS:

The prevailing ecclesiastical models existing within Africa were inherited from European missionary Christianity. As such, they are hierarchical, thriving on the centralisation of power and a corresponding disempowerment, particularly of the laity. Such a top-down ecclesiology has not only troubled women, but all who are concerned about the rights and wellbeing of those at the bottom of such hierarchies.²³²

Against this background, theologians are called upon to develop an African ecclesiology focussing on the terms inclusion, justice and the protection of life.²³³

3.2.3. Sacramental theology

It is above all BUJO who on the basis of a need to develop an African ecclesiology is in favour of subjecting European sacramental theology – particularly with regard to a "renewed theology of the minister"²³⁴ – to a culturally-characterised re-reading in order to make the "healing dimension of the Church"²³⁵ more visible to the outside. He proceeds here from the observation that many laity, and women in particular, assume the "ecclesial task"²³⁶ of caring for the sick.

This finding is significant not only with regard to African ecclesiology, but specifically in relation to the ministering of the sacraments, namely the

²³¹ *Majawa*, Concluding Remarks, 130.

²³² *Hinga*, AIDS, Religion and Women in Africa, 87.

²³³ cf. Haddad, Poverty, Gendered Cultural Sexual Practices and HIV, 17. More on this in No. 3.3.3.

²³⁴ Bujo, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 217 (original German; non-official translation).

²³⁵ Ibd. (original German; non-official translation).

²³⁶ Ibd. 211 (original German; non-official translation).

Eucharist, confession and the anointing of the sick. It therefore needs to be stressed that we are dealing in Africa with many women who are in the service of those who are infected with HIV/AIDS, such that one may speak here of a feminisation of the Church which could lend a new dynamism to our ecclesiology. The predominant presence of women in the service of the sick makes the question of the ministering of the sacraments more complex still.²³⁷

BUJO considers a renewed practice of the ministering of the sacraments to be centred on the African institution of the communal "palaver", which constitutes a place in which to discuss problems and solutions, and finally reconciliation.²³⁸ With a view, for instance, to the anointing of the sick, he therefore writes:

From the point of view of the therapeutic palaver, apart from the inner liberation of the patient, physical healing is also clearly stressed. People who accompany those suffering from AIDS regard their service as constituting healing in the holistic sense. They cannot separate the spiritual dimension from physical care. It is hence worthwhile discussing the problem of the anointing of the sick differently than previously. The burning question [...] is whether they cannot give the anointing of the sick to the dying in their function as helping those infected with HIV/AIDS, although the traditional teaching of the Church reserves this ministration to priests and bishops alone.²³⁹

3.2.4. The Church's pastoral practice

The elements discussed in the literature of an African theology of HIV/AIDS refer furthermore to a change in the everyday pastoral practice of the Church in Africa. In this regard, SANTEDI points out that inculturation is not only a task for the Church's teaching, but also relates to Christian orthopraxy.²⁴⁰ VITILLO also points in the same direction by indicating that the Church's response to HIV and AIDS cannot consist of words only, but must prove itself in the everyday service of all faithful for the sick and in the fight against the epidemic.²⁴¹

²³⁷ Ibd. (original German; non-official translation).

²³⁸ cf. ebd. 133–134.

²³⁹ Ibd. 215 (original German; non-official translation).

²⁴⁰ cf. *Santedi Kinkupu*, Für die Inkulturation der Glaubenslehre, 438.

²⁴¹ cf. *Vitillo*, A witness to truth and solidarity, 368.

The consequence of this is that the state of pastoral workers' knowledge on HIV/AIDS and their behaviour towards infected and sick people must change. Many can only be said to have rudimentary knowledge of the disease and its infection paths, which leads to considerable fear and consequently to the exclusion of people who are infected with HIV.²⁴² It is only on the basis of such sound knowledge that the Church is able to wholeheartedly devote Herself to the infected and sick, which naturally also includes offering them spiritual guidance.²⁴³ The Church's efforts may however not be reduced to guiding those who are already sick. Her responsibility explicitly entails Her actively attempting to reduce vulnerability to HIV/AIDS in Africa. CZERNY has put together a concrete list of tasks to this end, albeit this is certainly not to be understood exhaustively:

The Church's AIDS ministries need close links with every effort to eradicate poverty, fight disease and sustain human development:

- a) Making sure that every man, woman and child can meet their essential nutritional requirements;
- b) Providing adequate and truly accessible primary health care with proper infrastructure;
- c) Staffing clinics and health centres and stocking them adequately with essential drugs;
- d) Offering quality basic education for every child and every adolescent;
- e) Assuring safe water and hygienic sanitation for all;
- f) Expanding employment.²⁴⁴

3.3. Potential guiding theological perspectives

It is noticeable that specific individual elements are frequently named in the literature, which however are rarely placed into a broader theological context. Only in isolated cases are possible guiding theological perspectives discussed – in greater or lesser detail – which could act as a yardstick for an African theology on HIV and AIDS. The common path of

²⁴² cf. *Mwaura*, Violation of Human Rights of Kenyan Women, 368.

²⁴³ cf. *Thawale*, HIV/AIDS as a Spiritual Challenge, 146.

²⁴⁴ *Czerny*, Working for Healing, 60–61.

these various methods is a respective reading of the Holy Scriptures. Even if these methods – prophetic theology, theology of hope and healing – are presented here in isolation from one another, overlaps nonetheless exist between these theological perspectives.

A first possible guiding perspective could be a "prophetic theology". Inspired by the Old Testament's prophetic tradition, the Church is also to unmistakably stand at the side of those who are suppressed in society and whose voices are not heard.²⁴⁵ This includes proclaiming God, who is present in the world as a "God of liberation and life, bringing healing to all"²⁴⁶. A prophetic theology thus understood can also be anchored in the New Testament – in particular in the Jesuanic talk of a compassionate, merciful God.²⁴⁷ For the Church and Her workers, such a theology leads to radical solidarity with those concerned, but also with those who are resisting the epidemic.²⁴⁸

A "theology of hope" points in a similar direction. Having said that, this theological method is directed more – albeit not exclusively – towards the connection that is frequently established in Africa between the epidemic and sin.²⁴⁹ The theology of hope in Africa counters the image of a punishing God, and calls on all Christians to be "agents of hope"^{25°} in order to combat a certain fatalism in Africa vis-à-vis HIV and AIDS.

The best-developed model appears to be an African "theology of healing" which is also able to integrate the core elements of the other guiding theological perspectives. It tackles the fundamental conviction that healing is a task for the Church.²⁵¹ Fuelled by African convictions of healing and the Biblical tradition of healing, African theologians expect the Church to develop "a holistic vision of well-being and flourishing, which

²⁴⁵ cf. *Mboya*, A local Church's holistic response to HIV/AIDS, 138.

²⁴⁶ Haddad, Poverty, Gendered Cultural Sexual Practices and HIV, 18.

²⁴⁷ cf. *Simiyu*, The catholic church's response to the HIV/AIDS pandemic, 389.

²⁴⁸ cf. *Hinga*, AIDS, Religion and Women in Africa, 99.

²⁴⁹ cf. *Grzelak*, Collaboration between the Catholic Church and the Religions, 225.

²⁵⁰ Mombé, Compassion of Christ, 47.

²⁵¹ cf. *Orobator*, When AIDS Comes to Church, 123.

[...] is God's shalom"²⁵² and to make it become effective in practice. By doing so, the Church realises its mandate in the world to be there for the sick and weak and to offer them help.²⁵³ In Biblical terms, this understanding of healing links to the image of Jesus as a healer whose physical contact with the outcast²⁵⁴ could be quite paradigmatic for the Church's approach to people who are infected with HIV. According to STINTON, this understanding of Jesus implies four dimensions of healing in particular:

First, the image of Jesus as healer essentially means that Jesus restores life where it has been diminished, that he repairs life where it has been broken. [...] The second major affirmation is closely related to the first, in that the African theologians, church leaders and laypeople alike emphasize Jesus' healing as the re-creation of wholeness in all aspects of life. [...] So the third main point regarding the meaning of Jesus as healer is that it conveys Jesus' supremacy over every form of evil operating in the universe, whether manifested in the physical, mental, emotional, spiritual, social, or any other sphere of life. [...] A fourth and final affirmation regarding the meaning of Jesus as healer is that the image is intrinsically related to other significant roles such as saviour, liberator and redeemer.²⁵⁵

This perception of healing fits in many aspects with the African idea of healing: It goes beyond an individual perception of healing to become healing in the community; it takes life seriously, in all its facets; it offers a space for the influence of "evil" on the well-being of the human. The service of healing which the Church in Africa, following this model, can offer people with HIV is hence also not reduced to the physical dimension of healing:

People living with AIDS experience healing because they have been welcomed, accepted and integrated into the worshipping community of faith, especially in situations where they have been abandoned and ostracised by family, community and society out of fear and stigma.²⁵⁶

²⁵² *Katongole*, "An Age of Miraculous Medicines", 111.

²⁵³ cf. *Mwaura*, Violation of Human Rights of Kenyan Women, 137.

²⁵⁴ cf. amongst others Luke 5:12-13.

²⁵⁵ Stinton, Jesus as Healer, 31–33.

²⁵⁶ Orobator, When AIDS Comes to Church, 123.

According to KATONGOLE, the potential is intrinsic to an African theology of holistic healing to firstly make it possible to experience God in the epidemic, and secondly to carry on a discussion on the various aspects causing the spread of HIV/AIDS in Africa, and to re-invigorate it via the preventive measures:

Doing so will not only reconnect discussions about HIV and AIDS in Africa with the story of God; it will also re-invigorate discussions about the meaning and value of human life, friendship, marriage, sexuality, fidelity and chastity within the Church and its vision for the New Creation.²⁵⁷

It has been noted at various junctures that an African theology of healing is already being enacted, primarily where small Christian communities are at work.²⁵⁸ These communities are practicing a new way of "being a Church" combining the holistic-healing dimension of the Church with traditional African values.

3.4. Interim conclusion

There is no doubt that the HIV/AIDS epidemic is a "sign of the times" for the African Church.²⁵⁹ Particularly the evils constituted by this disease call on the Church in this time and in this place to proclaim and live out the Gospel under these conditions – "the kerygma of salvation"²⁶⁰: "The crisis of these people is also a call to kairos, to the revelation of God's salvific grace through the dedication and generosity of human beings."²⁶¹ In the Church's solidarity with the poor, weak and sick, She testifies to Her mission in the world. However it manifests itself in concrete individual questions, this commitment must be borne by the conviction that people with HIV are rejected neither by the Church nor by God.²⁶²

²⁵⁷ *Katongole*, "An Age of Miraculous Medicines", 111.

²⁵⁸ cf. *Bujo*, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität, 210–211; *Thawale*, African Anthropology and Holistic Pastoral Approach to HIV/AIDS, 36–37.

²⁵⁹ cf. *Orobator*, When AIDS Comes to Church, 128.

²⁶⁰ Okambawa, African theology of HIV/AIDS, 343.

²⁶¹ Ibd.

²⁶² cf. *Thawale*, HIV/AIDS as a Spiritual Challenge, 149.

4. Conclusion

The task of the literature study was to present the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Africa in its facets – spread factors, preventive measures and theological reflection. This compilation made it clear, first and foremost, that HIV and AIDS is not a medical disease pure and simple: "The AIDS epidemic reveals who we are as people [...]. Our reactions reveal what truths, convictions and values really apply in our society."²⁶³

As true as it is at medical level that the transmission of the HI virus leads to the outbreak of AIDS, it is also true that the transmission risk and vulnerability to HIV/AIDS are influenced by cultural, socio-economic and religious factors. It will not be possible to understand and stem the extent of the epidemic in Africa if these factors are ignored.²⁶⁴

It is against this background that the call for an inculturated solution and consequently for an inculturated HIV/AIDS theology - is comprehensible and necessary. This study has nonetheless also shown that inculturation may never be based on the foundation of an uncritical cultural understanding. The process of inculturation always includes a critical dialogue with the extant culture, and is particularly not compatible with radical cultural traditionalism. A fundamental precondition for inculturation is also a dynamic understanding of culture which comprises both the aspect of conserving a culture and that of changing it. Even if most authors agree on this point, the question of the normative foundation for this critical standpoint is unresolved, and marks an important research issue urgently requiring theological revision. There is a need to recall at this juncture the briefly-outlined discussion of "virgin testing", which revealed that there is a variety of normative methods for tackling the evaluation of cultural practices. It is certain that critical inculturation can only be successful if it leads to the creation of a more profound under-

²⁶³ Bate, Verantwortliches Heilen in einer Welt mit HIV/AIDS, 77 (original German; non-official translation).

²⁶⁴ cf. *Chummar*, HIV/AIDS in Africa, 159.

standing of genuinely African values and practices.²⁶⁵ It should be recalled in this context that this study generalised some elements of African culture, thus doing inadequate justice to the plurality of African lifestyles.²⁶⁶ Practical attempts at inculturation, by contrast, must take account of the concrete contexts, and these may differ from the "African culture" outlined here.

If one considers the Church and theology, one notices first of all "that religion is not only central to how people understand an epidemic, such as HIV; but also how they respond to it."²⁶⁷ It is important in this regard that the Church in Africa develop a responsible inculturated theology visà-vis HIV/AIDS, particularly if one takes into account the fact that previous aspects of the doctrine and practice of the Church have heightened the vulnerability to HIV/AIDS of specific groups of individuals. And although there are methods and individual elements of such a theology, Bishop NUBUASAH stresses: "Very little of the theology of the church deals with the pandemic we are faced with. We are not prepared to face AIDS at all." ²⁶⁸ And thus he urgently calls:

Those of us in the pastoral field in the frontlines of the pandemic are waiting and calling on theologians to develop a theology of AIDS. It is a matter of urgency, it is not a luxury.²⁶⁹

This study has shown that African theologians have already started developing a theology of HIV/AIDS. What appears to be missing is a synthesis of the different individual voices to form a coherent inculturated theology which locates its normative basis theologically and – critically – in a culture-sensitive manner. This would enable theologians to do justice to the challenges of the epidemic that "it is possible for an African to be both African and comfortably Christian."²⁷⁰

²⁶⁵ cf. *Chummar*, Inculturated Theological Ethics in Africa, 45.

²⁶⁶ cf. footnote 13.

²⁶⁷ Nguyen, Therapeutic Evangelism, 359.

²⁶⁸ *Nubuasah*, Salvation and Liberation in Africa, 127.

²⁶⁹ Ibd.

²⁷⁰ Odozor, Morality truly Christian, truly African, 111.

5. Literature

- Abdool Karim, Quarraisha, Heterosexual transmission of HIV the importance of a gendered perspective in HIV prevention, in: Salim S. Abdool Karim/Quarraisha Abdool Karim (eds.), HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town: Cambridge University Press ²2010, 285–304.
- Achunike, Hilary C., *Religion, Healing and Peace in Africa*, in: Asia Journal of Theology 22 (2008), 389–399.
- Ackermann, Denise M., *AIDS and Theological Education*, in: *Robin Gill* (ed.), Reflecting theologically on AIDS. A global challenge. London: SCM Press 2007, 114–120.
- Ackermann, Denise M., "Deep in the Flesh". Women, Bodies and HIV/AIDS. A Feminist Ethical Perspective, in: Teresia Mbari Hinga u. a. (eds.), Women, Religion and HIV/AIDS in Africa. Responding to ethical and theological challenges. Pietermaritzburg: Cluster Publications 2008, 105–125.
- Ashforth, Adam, *Spiritual Insecurity and AIDS in South Africa*, in: *Hansjörg Dilger/Ute Luig* (eds.), Morality, Hope and Grief. Anthropologies of AIDS in Africa (Epistemologies of Healing; Band 7). New York: Berghahn 2013, 43–60.
- Ayanga, Hazel, Religio-Cultural Challenges in Women's Fight against HIV/ AIDS in Africa, in: Teresia Mbari Hinga u. a. (eds.), Women, Religion and HIV/AIDS in Africa. Responding to ethical and theological challenges. Pietermaritzburg: Cluster Publications 2008, 34–48.
- Bangert, Kurt, HIV und AIDS als theologisches Problem der Kirche, in: Kurt Bangert/Thomas Schirrmacher (eds.), HIV und AIDS als christliche Herausforderung. Grundsätzliche Erwägungen; 1. Band. Bonn: Verlag für Kultur und Wissenschaft 2008, 73–100.
- Bäppler, Andreas, *Interkulturelle HIV- und AIDS-Seelsorge*, in: Wege zum Menschen 63 (2011), 359–366.
- Bate, Stuart C., HIV Prevention and the Theology of Sin. Inculturation in Urban Africa, in: Stuart C. Bate/Alison Munro (eds.), Catholic re-

sponses to AIDS in Southern Africa: Southern African Catholic Bishop's Conference 2014, 186–214.

- Bate, Stuart C., Verantwortliches Heilen in einer Welt mit HIV/AIDS, in: Katja Heidemanns/Marco Moerschbacher (eds.), Gott vertrauen?
 AIDS und Theologie im südlichen Afrika (Theologie der Dritten Welt; Band 32). Freiburg im Breisgau: Herder ²2006, 72–90.
- Becker, Felicitas/Geissler, Wenzel, Introduction. Searching for Pathways in a Landsscape of Death. Religion and AIDS in Africa, in: Felicitas Becker/Wenzel Geissler (eds.), AIDS and Religious Practice in Africa (Studies of Religion in Africa; Band 36). Leiden; Boston: Brill 2009, 1–25.
- Behrend, Heike, The Rise of Occult Powers, AIDS and the Roman Catholic Church in Western Uganda, in: Felicitas Becker/Wenzel Geissler (eds.), AIDS and Religious Practice in Africa (Studies of Religion in Africa; Band 36). Leiden; Boston: Brill 2009, 29–47.
- Benn, Christoph, Der Einfluss von Weltanschauung und Kultur auf die HIV/AIDS-Pandemie, in: Kurt Bangert/Thomas Schirrmacher (eds.), HIV und AIDS als christliche Herausforderung. Grundsätzliche Erwägungen; 1. Band. Bonn: Verlag für Kultur und Wissenschaft 2008, 15–26.
- Benn, Christoph, Globale Herausforderung globale Verantwortung. Aids als Anfrage an die gerechte Allokation von Ressourcen, in: Stefan Alkier/Kristina Dronsch (eds.), HIV/Aids – Ethische Perspektiven. Berlin: De Gruyter 2009, 77–90.
- Bertrand-Dansereau, Anaïs, "If you cannot control yourself". Christian leaders as HIV preventers in Malawi, in: Nadine Beckmann/Alessandro Gusman/Catrine Shroff (eds.), Sponsored sexuality, AIDS and tough choices (Proceedings of the British Academy; Band 194). Oxford: Oxford University Press 2014, 197–218.
- Browning, Melissa, *Listening to the particular through action research on HIV and AIDS*, in: Journal of Feminist Studies in Religion 28 (2012), 133–137.

- Bujo, Bénézet, Community Ethics, in: Bénézet Bujo/Michael F. Czerny (eds.), AIDS in Africa. Theological Reflections. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2007, 63–77.
- Bujo, Bénézet, Im Zentrum steht die Gemeinschaft. Wie man in Afrika Ehe und Familie versteht, in: Herder Korrespondenz 69 (2015), 92–96.
- Bujo, Bénézet, Plädoyer für ein neues Modell von Ehe und Sexualität. Afrikanische Anfragen an das westliche Christentum (Quaestiones disputatae; Band 223). Freiburg im Breisgau: Herder 2007.
- Burchardt, Marian, Subjects of Counselling. Religion, HIV/AIDS and the Management of Everyday Life in South Africa, in: Felicitas Becker/Wenzel Geissler (eds.), AIDS and Religious Practice in Africa (Studies of Religion in Africa; Band 36). Leiden; Boston: Brill 2009, 333–358.
- Burchardt, Marian, The logic of therapeutic habitus. Culture, religion and biomedical AIDS treatments in South Africa, in: Rijk van Dijk u. a. (eds.), Religion and AIDS-treatment in Africa. Saving souls, prolonging lives. Farnham: Ashgate 2014, 49–71.
- Chitando, Ezra, *"Even when there is no rooster, the morning will start". Men, HIV, and African theologies,* in: Journal of Feminist Studies in Religion 28 (2012), 141–145.
- Chiti, Leonard, *Culture, HIV, and the Church*, in: *Paterne-Auxence Mombé/Agbonkhianmeghe E. Orobator/Danielle Vella* eds.), AIDS, 30 years down the line.... Faith-based reflections about the epidemic in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2012, 145–154.
- Choge, Emily J., Repentance. An African Christian Call to Health and Wholeness in Community, in: Adam K. A. Chepkwony (ed.), Religion and health in Africa. Reflections for theology in the 21st century (Ecumenical Symposium of Eastern Africa Theologians; Band 2). Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2006, 51–63.
- Chummar, Paul, *HIV/AIDS in Africa. An Urgent Task for an Inculturated Theological Ethics*, in: *Linda Hogan* (ed.), Applied ethics in a world church. The Padua conference. Maryknoll, N.Y: Orbis Books 2008, 155–162.

- Chummar, Paul, Inculturated Theological Ethics in Africa. A Response to the HIV/ AIDS Crisis, with Reference to the AMECEA Region, in: Clement Majawa/John Lukwata (eds.), Theological Challenges of HIV/AIDS to Eastern Africa: Developing an integrated approach to fighting against HIV/AIDS for deeper evangelization. Nairobi: CUEA Press 2013, 32–51.
- Coetzee, David/Johnson, Leigh, *Sexually transmitted infections*, in: *Salim S. Abdool Karim/Quarraisha Abdool Karim* (eds.), HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town: Cambridge University Press ²2010, 216–225.
- Coovadia, Hoosen, *Mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) of HIV-1*, in: *Salim S. Abdool Karim/Quarraisha Abdool Karim* (eds.), HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town: Cambridge University Press ²2010, 201–215.
- Correll, Tom, HIV/AIDS: Ein Problem der Kirchen, in: Kurt Bangert/ Thomas Schirrmacher (eds.), HIV und AIDS als christliche Herausforderung. Grundsätzliche Erwägungen; 1. Band. Bonn: Verlag für Kultur und Wissenschaft 2008, 27–39.
- Czerny, Michael F., *ARVs When Possible*, in: *Bénézet Bujo/Michael F. Czerny* (eds.), AIDS in Africa. Theological Reflections. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2007, 97–103.
- Czerny, Michael F., *Working for Healing*, in: *Bénézet Bujo/Michael F. Czerny* (eds.), AIDS in Africa. Theological Reflections. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2007, 49–62.
- Denis, Philippe, Schlaglichter einer modernen Seuche, in: Katja Heidemanns/Marco Moerschbacher (eds.), Gott vertrauen? AIDS und Theologie im südlichen Afrika (Theologie der Dritten Welt; Band 32). Freiburg im Breisgau: Herder ²2006, 40–57.
- Denis, Philippe, Sexualität und HIV/AIDS in Südafrika, in: Kurt Bangert/Thomas Schirrmacher (eds.), HIV und AIDS als christliche Herausforderung. Aus der praktischen Arbeit; 2. Band. Bonn: Verlag für Kultur und Wissenschaft 2008, 23–41.
- Diefenhardt, Adolf, *Heil und Befreiung in Afrika*, in: *Francis X. D'Sa/Jürgen Lohmayer* (eds.), Heil und Befreiung in Afrika. Die Kirchen vor der missionarischen Herausforderung durch HIV/AIDS (Missi-

onswissenschaft und Dialog der Religionen; Band 3). Würzburg: Echter 2007, 99–108.

- Dilger, Hansjörg, Introduction. Morality, Hope and Grief. Towards an Ethnographic Perspective in HIV/AIDS Research, in: Hansjörg Dilger/ Ute Luig (eds.), Morality, Hope and Grief. Anthropologies of AIDS in Africa (Epistemologies of Healing; Band 7). New York: Berghahn 2013, 1–18.
- Doma, Safiya, Educational Response to HIV Prevention among Nigerian Girls, in: Meehyun Chung (ed.), Contextual Theology. Voices of West African Women. Delhi: Indian Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge 2010, 1–18.
- Dube, Lilian, *HIV and AIDS, Gender and Migration. Towards a Theological Engagement,* in: Journal of Constructive Theology 15 (2009), 71–82.
- Essien, Essien D., Notions of Healing and Transcendence in the Trajectory of African Traditional Religion. Paradigm and Strategies, in: International Review of Mission 102 (2013), 236–248.
- Farley, Margaret A., *Hope for the future*, in: Journal of Feminist Studies in Religion 28 (2012), 137–141.
- Farley, Margaret A., Verdammter Sex. Für eine neue christliche Sexualmoral, Darmstadt: Theiss, 2014.
- Fiedler, Klaus, *HIV/AIDS als theologische Herausforderung für afrikanische Christen*, in: *Kurt Bangert/Thomas Schirrmacher* (eds.), HIV und AIDS als christliche Herausforderung. Grundsätzliche Erwägungen;
 1. Band. Bonn: Verlag für Kultur und Wissenschaft 2008, 51–71.
- Fleischer, Klaus u. a., Lehren aus den Antworten der katholischen Kirche auf HIV und AIDS in Afrika. Eine internationale Feldstudie von afrikanischen und deutschen Theologen und Gesundheitsexperten. Zusammenfassung (Forschungsergebnisse; Band 7). Bonn 2015.
- Fleischer, Klaus/Ochel, Klemens, Schlaglichter einer modernen Seuche, in: Katja Heidemanns/Marco Moerschbacher (eds.), Gott vertrauen?
 AIDS und Theologie im südlichen Afrika (Theologie der Dritten Welt; Band 32). Herder: Freiburg im Breisgau ²2006, 11–37.

- Foitzik, Alexander, *HIV/AIDS: Kirchliches Engagement in Afrika*, in: Herder Korrespondenz 69 (2015), 169–171.
- Fonki, Perpetua, *"The Hem of His Garment". Perspectives on Christian Cure and Healing in Cameroon*, in: *Meehyun Chung* (ed.), Contex-tual Theology. Voices of West African Women. Delhi: Indian Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge 2010, 124–141.
- Frohlich, Janet, *The impact of AIDS on the community*, in: *Salim S. Abdool Karim/Quarraisha Abdool Karim* (eds.), HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town: Cambridge University Press ²2010, 373–392.
- Gichure, Peter I., *AIDS Stories as a Process of Healing*, in: *Adam K. A. Chepkwony* (ed.), Religion and health in Africa. Reflections for theology in the 21st century (Ecumenical Symposium of Eastern Africa Theologians; Band 2). Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2006, 96–104.
- Green, Edward C./Ruark, Allison Herling, *AIDS, behavior, and culture. Understanding evidence-based prevention.* Walnut Creek: Left Coast Press 2011.
- Grzelak, Chris, Collaboration between the Catholic Church and the Religions in South Africa in the Struggle against HIV/AIDS, in: Stuart C. Bate/Alison Munro (eds.), Catholic responses to AIDS in Southern Africa: Southern African Catholic Bishop's Conference 2014, 215–247.
- Haddad, Beverley, *Poverty, Gendered Cultural Sexual Practices and HIV. Ethical and Theological Implications,* in: Journal of Constructive Theology 15 (2009), 5–22.
- Hanley, Matthew/Irala, Jokin de, *Affirming love, avoiding AIDS. What Africa can teach the West.* Philadelphia: National Catholic Bioethics Center 2010.
- Harrison, Abigail, Young people and HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Prevalence of infection, risk factors and social context, in: Salim S. Abdool Karim/Quarraisha Abdool Karim (eds.), HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town: Cambridge University Press ²2010, 305–328.
- Hinga, Teresia Mbari, AIDS, Religion and Women in Africa. Theo-Ethical Challenges and Imperatives, in: Teresia Mbari Hinga u. a. (eds.),

Women, Religion and HIV/AIDS in Africa. Responding to ethical and theological challenges. Pietermaritzburg: Cluster Publications 2008, 76–104.

- Hinga, Teresia Mbari, Becoming Better Samaritans. The Quest for New Models of Doing Social-economic Justice in Africa, in: Linda Hogan (ed.), Applied ethics in a world church. The Padua conference. Maryknoll, N.Y: Orbis Books 2008, 85–97.
- James, Ruth Muthei, Factors that Render the Girl-Child Vulnerable to HIV/ AIDS in Kenya, in: Teresia Mbari Hinga u. a. (eds.), Women, Religion and HIV/AIDS in Africa. Responding to ethical and theological challenges. Pietermaritzburg: Cluster Publications 2008, 2–19.
- Kamaara, Eunice, The Impact of HIV and AIDS on Vulnerable Groups. Children, Youth, Women and the Elderly in the AMECEA Region, in: Marco Moerschbacher/Joseph Kato/Pius Rutechura (eds.), A Holistic Approach to HIV and AIDS in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2008, 71–89.
- Kamanzi, Michael S., Solidarity, a New Categorical Imperative, in: Bénézet Bujo/Michael F. Czerny (eds.), AIDS in Africa. Theological Reflections. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2007, 17–29.
- Katongole, Emmanuel, "An Age of Miraculous Medicines", in: Bénézet Bujo/Michael F. Czerny (eds.), AIDS in Africa. Theological Reflections. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2007, 104–119.
- Keenan, James F., Developing HIV/AIDS discourse in Africa and Advancing the argument for universal health care, in: Paterne-Auxence Mombé/Agbonkhianmeghe E. Orobator/Danielle Vella (eds.), AIDS, 30 years down the line.... Faith-based reflections about the epidemic in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2012, 63–82.
- Keenan, James F., *Vier Aufgaben der theologischen Ethik in einer Zeit von HIV und Aids*, in: Concilium. Internationale Zeitschrift für Theologie 43 (2007), 300–310.
- Kelly, Michael J., *HIV and AIDS. A social justice perspective.* Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2010.
- Kelly, Michael J., Some AIDS-Relevant Teachings of Moral Theology in the Field of Sexuality, in: Marco Moerschbacher/Joseph Kato/Pius

Rutechura (eds.), A Holistic Approach to HIV and AIDS in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2008, 117–128.

- Kelly, Michael J., *The churches and a stigmatising disease*, in: *Paterne-Auxence Mombé/Agbonkhianmeghe E. Orobator/Danielle Vella* (eds.), AIDS, 30 years down the line.... Faith-based reflections about the epidemic in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2012, 244–257.
- Khamalwa, Wotsuna, *Religion, Traditional Healers, and the AIDS Pandemic in Uganda,* in: *Adam K. A. Chepkwony* (ed.), Religion and health in Africa. Reflections for theology in the 21st century (Ecumenical Symposium of Eastern Africa Theologians; Band 2). Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2006, 82–95.
- Kirby, Jon P., The Witch Villages of Northern Ghana, in: Missionsakademie an der Universität Hamburg (ed.), Hexenfurcht in Afrika. Annäherungen an ein sperriges Thema (Theologische Impulse der Missionsakademie; Band 10). Hamburg: Missionsakademie an der Universität Hamburg 2015, 11–44.
- Klinger, Elmar, AIDS Eine missionarische Herausforderung der Kirche, in: Francis X. D'Sa/Jürgen Lohmayer (eds..), Heil und Befreiung in Afrika. Die Kirchen vor der missionarischen Herausforderung durch HIV/AIDS (Missionswissenschaft und Dialog der Religionen; Band 3). Würzburg: Echter 2007, 25–32.
- Klinken, Adriaan S. van, *The Ongoing Challenge of HIV and AIDS to African Theology. A Review Article*, in: Exchange 40 (2011), 89–107.
- Klinken, Adriaan S. van, *Transforming masculinities in African Christianity. Gender controversies in times of AIDS*. Farnham: Ashgate 2013.
- Knodel, Kathrin, Für alle Fälle einen Hahn im Kofferraum. Die Bedeutung des Brautpreises in Burkina Faso, in: Forschung Frankfurt 30 (2012), 94–97.
- Koslowski, Peter, Die Wirtschaftsethik von HIV/Aids. Zur Ethischen Ökonomie der gesundheitspolitischen Bekämpfung von HIV/Aids, in: Stefan Alkier/Kristina Dronsch (eds.), HIV/Aids – Ethische Perspektiven. Berlin: De Gruyter 2009, 91–106.

- Kubai, Anne Nkirote, *Living in the Shadow of Genocide. Women and HIV/AIDS in Rwanda*, in: *Teresia Mbari Hinga u. a.* (eds.), Women, Religion and HIV/AIDS in Africa. Responding to ethical and theological challenges. Pietermaritzburg: Cluster Publications 2008, 49–74.
- Kwansa, Benjamin Kobina, *"Silent nights, anointing days". Post-HIV test religious experiences in Ghana,* in: *Rijk van Dijk u. a.* (eds.), Religion and AIDS-treatment in Africa. Saving souls, prolonging lives. Farnham: Ashgate 2014, 147–168.
- Laubscher, Matthias Samuel, *Hexen. I. Religionsgeschichtlich*, in: *Walter Kasper u. a.* (eds.), Lexikon für Theologie und Kirche; 5. Band Freiburg im Breisgau: Herder ³2006, 79.
- Lebouché, Bertrand u. a., *Religion in the AIDS Crisis: Irrelevance, Adversary, or Ally?. The Case of the Catholic Church,* in: *Linda Hogan* (ed.), Applied ethics in a world church. The Padua conference. Maryknoll, N.Y: Orbis Books 2008, 170–179.
- Leggett, David, *Intravenous drug use in South Africa*, in: *Salim S. Abdool Karim/Quarraisha Abdool Karim* (eds.), HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town: Cambridge University Press ²2010, 240–249.
- Lindorfer, Simone, Skizzen zur Prävention von HIV aus der Perspektive afrikanisch-feministischer Befreiungstheologie, in: Francis X. D'Sa/ Jürgen Lohmayer (eds.), Heil und Befreiung in Afrika. Die Kirchen vor der missionarischen Herausforderung durch HIV/AIDS (Missionswissenschaft und Dialog der Religionen; Band 3). Würzburg: Echter 2007, 115–122.
- Litoing, Norbert, *Religion and HIV/AIDS-related stigma in Africa. An interreligious perspective*, in: *Paterne-Auxence Mombé/Agbonkhianmeghe E. Orobator/Danielle Vella* (eds.), AIDS, 30 years down the line.... Faith-based reflections about the epidemic in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2012, 155–168.
- Lonsdale, John, *Conclusion*, in: *Felicitas Becker/Wenzel Geissler* (eds.), AIDS and Religious Practice in Africa (Studies of Religion in Africa; Band 36). Leiden; Boston: Brill 2009, 379–384.

- Lurie, Mark, Population movement and the spread of HIV in southern Africa, in: Salim S. Abdool Karim/Quarraisha Abdool Karim (eds.), HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town: Cambridge University Press ²2010, 342–356.
- Machyo, Catherine, Gender Issues in the Context of Responding to the Challenges of HIV/AIDS in the AMECEA Region, in: Marco Moerschbacher/Joseph Kato/Pius Rutechura (eds.), A Holistic Approach to HIV and AIDS in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2008, 56–70.
- Majawa, Clement, Concluding Remarks. The Church as a Heralding and Healing Instrument of HIV/AIDS Pandemic in Africa, in: Clement Majawa/John Lukwata (eds.), Theological Challenges of HIV/AIDS to Eastern Africa: Developing an integrated approach to fighting against HIV/AIDS for deeper evangelization. Nairobi: CUEA Press 2013, 125–135.
- Malu Nyimi, Modeste, Die kirchlichen Basisgemeinden in der afrikanischen Theologie. Evangeliumsbruderschaften und politisch-soziale Initiativen, in: Concilium. Internationale Zeitschrift für Theologie 42 (2006), 411–422.
- Masenya, Madipoane, Gefangen zwischen zwei Traditionen. Afrikanischsüdafrikanische Christinnen in den Zeiten von AIDS, in: Katja Heidemanns/Marco Moerschbacher (eds.), Gott vertrauen? AIDS und Theologie im südlichen Afrika (Theologie der Dritten Welt; Band 32). Herder: Freiburg im Breisgau ²2006, 58–71.
- Mathews, Catherine, *Reducing sexual risk behaviours. Theory and re*search, success and challenges, in: Salim S. Abdool Karim/Quarraisha Abdool Karim (eds.), HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town: Cambridge University Press ²2010, 157–182.
- Mattes, Dominik, The blood of Jesus and CD4 counts. Dreaming, developing and navigating therapeutic options for curing HIV/AIDS in Tanzania, in: Rijk van Dijk u. a. (eds.), Religion and AIDStreatment in Africa. Saving souls, prolonging lives. Farnham: Ashgate 2014, 169–193.
- Mboya, Rose, A local Church's holistic response to HIV/AIDS, in: Missionalia. Southern African Journal of Missiology 38 (2010), 121–141.

- Mbuwayesango, Dora Rudo, *The circle's contribution to HIV discourse on the global level*, in: Journal of Feminist Studies in Religion 28 (2012), 145–147.
- McDonagh, Enda, *Theology in a Time of AIDS*, in: *Robin Gill* (ed.), Reflecting theologically on AIDS. A global challenge. London: SCM Press 2007, 43–59.
- Moerschbacher, Marco, Caring and Sharing some Intercultural Challenges of HIV/AIDS exemplified at HIV/AIDS related Projects supported by missio-Germany, in: Marco Moerschbacher/Joseph Kato/Pius Rutechura (eds.), A Holistic Approach to HIV and AIDS in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2008, 106–116.
- Mombé, Paterne-Auxence, *Compassion of Christ*, in: *Bénézet Bujo/Michael F. Czerny* (eds.), AIDS in Africa. Theological Reflections. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2007, 43–47.
- Mulligan, Suzanne, *Confronting the challenge*. *Poverty, gender, and HIV in South Africa* (Africa in development; Band 4). Bern: Peter Lang 2010.
- Munro, Alison, *Continuing the Mission of Jesus*, in: *Bénézet Bujo/Michael F. Czerny* (Hgg.), AIDS in Africa. Theological Reflections. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2007, 79–96.
- Munro, Alison, *HIV Testing of Candidates for the Priesthood and Religious Life*, in: *Stuart C. Bate/Alison Munro* (eds.), Catholic responses to AIDS in Southern Africa: Southern African Catholic Bishop's Conference 2014, 127–140.
- Mwaura, Philomena Njeri, Violation of Human Rights of Kenyan Women with HIV/AIDS through Stigma and Discrimination, in: Teresia Mbari Hinga u. a. (eds.), Women, Religion and HIV/AIDS in Africa. Responding to ethical and theological challenges. Pietermaritzburg: Cluster Publications 2008, 126–143.
- Mwaura, Philomena Njeri/Kimani, Elishiba, *Gender Based Violence. A Pastoral Challenge for the Church in Africa*, in: ORITA. Ibadan Journal of Religious Studies 41 (2009), 25–42.
- Myer, Landon, *Barrier methods*, in: *Salim S. Abdool Karim/Quarraisha Abdool Karim* (eds.), HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town: Cambridge University Press ²2010, 183–200.

- Nadar, Sarjini/Phiri, Isabel, *Charting the paradigm shifts in HIV research. The contribution of gender and religion studies*, in: Journal of Feminist Studies in Religion 28 (2012), 121–129.
- Nduku, Elizabeth, *The Impact of Poverty, Illiteracy and Ignorance in Re*sponding to the Challenges of HIV/AIDS in the AMECEA Region, in: Marco Moerschbacher/Joseph Kato/Pius Rutechura (eds.), A Holistic Approach to HIV and AIDS in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2008, 41–55.
- Nguyen, Vinh-Kim, Therapeutic Evangelism. Confessional Technologies, Antiretrovirals and Biospiritual Transformation in the Fight against AIDS in West Africa, in: Felicitas Becker/Wenzel Geissler (eds.), AIDS and Religious Practice in Africa (Studies of Religion in Africa; Band 36). Leiden; Boston: Brill 2009, 359–378.
- Niehaus, Isak, Leprosy of a Deadlier Kind. Christian Conceptions of AIDS in the South African Lowveld, in: Felicitas Becker/Wenzel Geissler (eds.), AIDS and Religious Practice in Africa (Studies of Religion in Africa; Band 36). Leiden ; Boston: Brill 2009, 309–332.
- Njoroge, Nyambura J., A body of knowledge for HIV research, in: Journal of Feminist Studies in Religion 28 (2012), 129–133.
- Njoroge, Nyambura J., *Resisting Gender Inequality and Injustice in the Name of Jesus*, in: *Francis X. D'Sa/Jürgen Lohmayer* (eds.), Heil und Befreiung in Afrika. Die Kirchen vor der missionarischen Herausforderung durch HIV/AIDS (Missionswissenschaft und Dialog der Religionen; Band 3). Würzburg: Echter 2007, 54–73.
- Nkansah-Obrempong, James, *Foundations for African Theological Ethics*. Carlisle (UK): Langham Monographs 2013.
- Nubuasah, Frank, Salvation and Liberation in Africa. Pastoral reactions and challenges – Botswana, in: Francis X. D'Sa/Jürgen Lohmayer (eds.), Heil und Befreiung in Afrika. Die Kirchen vor der missionarischen Herausforderung durch HIV/AIDS (Missionswissenschaft und Dialog der Religionen; Band 3). Würzburg: Echter 2007, 123–132.
- Nussbaum, Stan, *Evangelicals and AIDS*, in: *Robin Gill* (ed.), Reflecting theologically on AIDS. A global challenge. London: SCM Press 2007, 121–138.

- Nyamiti, Charles, An African Theology of Holistic Healing and the Problem of HIV/AIDS. A Dogmatic Reflection with Reference to the AMECEA Region, in: Clement Majawa/John Lukwata (eds.), Theological Challenges of HIV/AIDS to Eastern Africa: Developing an integrated approach to fighting against HIV/AIDS for deeper evangelization. Nairobi: CUEA Press 2013, 19–31.
- Obbo, Christine, Sponsored sexuality, AIDS and tough choices, in: Nadine Beckmann/Alessandro Gusman/Catrine Shroff (eds.), Sponsored sexuality, AIDS and tough choices (Proceedings of the British Academy; Band 194). Oxford: Oxford University Press 2014, 31–41.
- Odozor, Paulinus Ikechukwu, *Morality truly Christian, truly African. Foundational, methodological, and theological considerations.* Notre Dame, Indiana: University of Notre Dame Press 2014.
- Okambawa, Wilfrid, African HIV/AIDS theology. Towards a holistic approach to the HIV/AIDS issue, in: Paterne-Auxence Mombé/Agbonkhianmeghe E. Orobator/Danielle Vella (eds.), AIDS, 30 years down the line.... Faith-based reflections about the epidemic in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2012, 335–348.
- Okwaro, Ferdinand, *Modernity and Efficacy in Kenyan Ritual Healing*, in: Journal of Ritual Studies 24 (2010), 57–979.
- Orobator, Agbonkhianmeghe E., *Catholic Responses to HIV/AIDS in Africa. The Long Walk to Conversion*, in: *Stuart C. Bate/Alison Munro* (eds.), Catholic responses to AIDS in Southern Africa: Southern African Catholic Bishop's Conference 2014, 170–185.
- Orobator, Agbonkhianmeghe E., *Ethics of HIV/AIDS Prevention. Paradigms of a New Discourse from an African Perspective*, in: *Linda Hogan* (ed.), Applied ethics in a world church. The Padua conference. Maryknoll, N.Y: Orbis Books 2008, 147–154.
- Orobator, Agbonkhianmeghe E., *When AIDS Comes to Church*, in: *Bénézet Bujo/Michael F. Czerny* (eds.), AIDS in Africa. Theological Reflections. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2007, 120–128.
- Paterson, Gillian, *Who Sinned? AIDS-Related Stigma and the Church*, in: *Linda Hogan* (ed.), Applied ethics in a world church. The Padua conference. Maryknoll, N.Y: Orbis Books 2008, 163–169.

- Patrick, Koni, Violence against Women. A Challenge to the Churches in Northern Nigeria, in: Meehyun Chung (ed.), Contextual Theology. Voices of West African Women. Delhi: Indian Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge 2010, 101–123.
- Pillay, Miranda N., Re-reading New Testament texts. A resource for addressing gender inequality in the context of HIV and AIDS in South Africa, in: Francis X. D'Sa/Jürgen Lohmayer (eds.), Heil und Befreiung in Afrika. Die Kirchen vor der missionarischen Herausforderung durch HIV/AIDS (Missionswissenschaft und Dialog der Religionen; Band 3). Würzburg: Echter 2007, 138–155.
- Quaranta, Ivo, Politics of Blame. Clashing Moralities and the AIDS Epidemic in Nso' (North-West Province, Cameroon), in: Hansjörg Dilger/Ute Luig (eds.), Morality, Hope and Grief. Anthropologies of AIDS in Africa (Epistemologies of Healing; Band 7). New York: Berghahn 2013, 173–191.
- Ramjee, Gita, *Female sex workers*, in: *Salim S. Abdool Karim/Quarraisha Abdool Karim* (eds.), HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town: Cambridge University Press ²2010, 329–341.
- Ratsimbazafy, Jean-Simon, *Education for life and love as the Church's response to HIV/AIDS*, in: *Paterne-Auxence Mombé/Agbonkhian-meghe E. Orobator/Danielle Vella* (eds.), AIDS, 30 years down the line.... Faith-based reflections about the epidemic in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2012, 404–412.
- Reid, Graeme, Gossip, Rumour and Scandal. The Circulation of AIDS Narratives in a Climate of Silence und Secrecy, in: Hansjörg Dilger/Ute Luig (eds.), Morality, Hope and Grief. Anthropologies of AIDS in Africa (Epistemologies of Healing; Band 7). New York: Berghahn 2013, 192–215.
- Reijer, Piet, Sozioökonomische Auswirkungen von AIDS, in: Francis X. D'Sa/Jürgen Lohmayer (eds.), Heil und Befreiung in Afrika. Die Kirchen vor der missionarischen Herausforderung durch HIV/AIDS (Missionswissenschaft und Dialog der Religionen; Band 3). Würzburg: Echter 2007, 46–53.
- Sadgrove, Joanna, Global moralities, local responses. Interpreting sexual morality and social belonging in Uganda, in: Nadine Beckmann/

Alessandro Gusman/Catrine Shroff (eds.), Sponsored sexuality, AIDS and tough choices (Proceedings of the British Academy; Band 194). Oxford: Oxford University Press 2014, 79–103.

- Salla, Jean-Bertrand, Die historischen Kirchen und ihre Familien- und Sexualmoral. Homosexualität und Aids, in: Concilium. Internationale Zeitschrift für Theologie 42 (2006), 470–477.
- Santedi Kinkupu, Léonard, *Für die Inkulturation der Glaubenslehre in das afrikanische Christentum*, in: Concilium. Internationale Zeitschrift für Theologie 42 (2006), 433–442.
- Schulz, Heiko, *Genügt die Hoffnung? Über Aids als Problem der theologischen Ethik*, in: *Stefan Alkier/Kristina Dronsch* (eds.), HIV/Aids Ethische Perspektiven. Berlin: De Gruyter 2009, 299–322.
- Shisanya, Constance Ambasa, Today's Lepers. Experiences of Women Living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya, in: Teresia Mbari Hinga u. a. (eds.), Women, Religion and HIV/AIDS in Africa. Responding to ethical and theological challenges. Pietermaritzburg: Cluster Publications 2008, 144–166.
- Simiyu, Wanyonyi Eric, The Catholic Church's response to the HIV/AIDS pandemic. The experience in Kenya, in: Paterne-Auxence Mombé/Agbonkhianmeghe E. Orobator/Danielle Vella (eds.), AIDS, 30 years down the line.... Faith-based reflections about the epidemic in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2012, 389–403.
- Simpson, Anthony, "God has again remembered us!". Christian identity and men's attitudes to antiretroviral therapy in Zambia, in: Rijk van Dijk u. a. (eds.), Religion and AIDS-treatment in Africa. Saving souls, prolonging lives. Farnham: Ashgate 2014, 95–116.
- Singh, Jerome, *The impact on ethics*, in: *Salim S. Abdool Karim/Quarraisha Abdool Karim* (eds.), HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town: Cambridge University Press ²2010, 393–416.
- Steuer, Noemi, *Krankheit und Ehre. Über HIV und soziale Anerkennung in Mali* (Kultur und soziale Praxis). Bielefeld: transcript-Verlag 2012.
- Stewart, Gordon J., Contextualization of HIV prevention initiatives in Sub-Saharan Africa, with special reference to gender issues in contexts

of human dislocation and migration, in: Mission Studies 31 (2014), 377–402.

- Stinton, Diane B., Jesus as Healer. Reflections on Religion and Health in East Africa Today, in: Adam K. A. Chepkwony (ed.), Religion and health in Africa. Reflections for theology in the 21st century (Ecumenical Symposium of Eastern Africa Theologians; Band 2). Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2006, 13–35.
- Süßmuth, Rita, *Gender und Aids*, in: *Stefan Alkier/Kristina Dronsch* (eds.), HIV/Aids – Ethische Perspektiven. Berlin: De Gruyter 2009, 107–116.
- Talle, Aud, Living beyond AIDS in Maasailand. Discourses of Contagion und Cultural Identity, in: Hansjörg Dilger/Ute Luig (eds.), Morality, Hope and Grief. Anthropologies of AIDS in Africa (Epistemologies of Healing; Band 7). New York: Berghahn 2013, 148–172.
- Thawale, Patrick, *African Anthropology and Holistic Pastoral Approach to HIV/AIDS*, in: *Marco Moerschbacher/Joseph Kato/Pius Rutechura* (eds.), A Holistic Approach to HIV and AIDS in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2008, 31–40.
- Thawale, Patrick, *HIV/AIDS as a Spiritual Challenge*, in: *Marco Moerschbacher/Joseph Kato/Pius Rutechura* (eds.), A Holistic Approach to HIV and AIDS in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2008, 137–152.
- Tombi, Harris, Stigmatisation and discrimination against persons living with HIV. A hindrance to the prevention of the illness in Africa, in: Paterne-Auxence Mombé/Agbonkhianmeghe E. Orobator/Danielle Vella (eds.), AIDS, 30 years down the line.... Faith-based reflections about the epidemic in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2012, 232–243.
- UNAIDS, AIDSinfo, http://aidsinfo.unaids.org (Stand: 13.04.2016; Abruf: 13.04.2016).
- UNAIDS/WHO, Press Release. Groundbreaking trial results confirm HIV treatment prevents transmission of HIV, http://www.unaids.org/ en/resources/presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2011/ may/20110512pstrialresults (Stand: 05.12.2011; Abruf: 21.04.2016).

- Vandi, Roseline Luka, The Church's Role in Empowering Women for Effective Ministry, in: Meehyun Chung (ed.), Contextual Theology. Voices of West African Women. Delhi: Indian Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge 2010, 63–89.
- Vitillo, Robert J., A witness to truth and solidarity. The Catholic Church's response to HIV and AIDS in Sub-Saharan Africa, in: Paterne-Auxence Mombé/Agbonkhianmeghe E. Orobator/Danielle Vella (eds.), AIDS, 30 years down the line.... Faith-based reflections about the epidemic in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2012, 361–377.
- Vitillo, Robert J., Ethical issues related to preventing the further spread of HIV. Teachings and actions of the Catholic Church, in: Paterne-Auxence Mombé/Agbonkhianmeghe E. Orobator/Danielle Vella (eds.), AIDS, 30 years down the line.... Faith-based reflections about the epidemic in Africa. Nairobi: Paulines Publications Africa 2012, 349–360.
- Vitillo, Robert J., *The Human and Pastoral Challenges of HIV and AIDS*, in: *Robin Gill* (ed.), Reflecting theologically on AIDS. A global challenge. London: SCM Press 2007, 31–42.
- Wakhusama, Evelyn, *Abused and Infected with HIV. A Call for a Communal Response*, in: *Teresia Mbari Hinga u. a.* (eds.), Women, Religion and HIV/AIDS in Africa. Responding to ethical and theological challenges. Pietermaritzburg: Cluster Publications 2008, 168–178.
- Weinreich, Sonja, HIV und AIDS aus Sicht einer christlichen Frau, in: Kurt Bangert/Thomas Schirrmacher (eds.), HIV und AIDS als christliche Herausforderung. Grundsätzliche Erwägungen; 1. Band. Bonn: Verlag für Kultur und Wissenschaft 2008, 141–152.
- Whiteside, Alan, *The economic impact of AIDS*, in: *Salim S. Abdool Karim/ Quarraisha Abdool Karim* (eds.), HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Cape Town: Cambridge University Press ²2010, 417–431.